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FOUNDATION HOUSE 

• Provides services to clients in the form of 

counselling, advocacy, family support, group  

work, psycho-education, information and 

complementary therapies.

• Works with client communities to improve their 

capacity to access the services they need and  

to enable them to support recovery.

• Offers professional and organisational 

development, consultancy and resources to 

assist health, education, employment and other 

community service providers to enhance the 

responsiveness of their services to the needs of 

people of refugee backgrounds.

• Works with the Commonwealth and Victorian 

governments to ensure that policies and programs 

have proper regard to the needs of people of 

refugee backgrounds.

• Conducts, and contributes to, research regarding 

the needs of people of refugee backgrounds, and 

the best possible ways of addressing those needs.

Foundation House is a state-wide agency offering services throughout Victoria. We have approximately  

180 staff across our five offices in Brunswick, Dallas, Dandenong, Ringwood and Sunshine, and we also  

provide services in partnership with other agencies in regional and rural areas.

OUR MISSION
To advance the health, wellbeing 
and human rights of people from 
refugee backgrounds who have 

experienced torture or other 
traumatic events.

The Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture Inc. (VFST), also known 
as Foundation House, provides services to people of refugee backgrounds 
in Victoria who have experienced torture or other traumatic events in their 

country of origin or while fleeing those countries.

Foundation House was established in Melbourne in 1987 and is  
non-denominational, politically neutral and non-aligned. We are a  

not-for-profit organisation governed by an elected Board of  
Management. Our work is funded by the Commonwealth and Victorian 

governments, philanthropic organisations and private donations.
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ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 
OF COUNTRY
The primary locations of the Victorian Foundation 
for Survivors of Torture Inc., Brunswick, Dallas, 
Dandenong, Ringwood and Sunshine, are on the 
traditional lands of the Kulin nation. Lands, we 
acknowledge, that were never ceded.

In keeping with Foundation House’s aspiration to heal 
individuals and communities we recognise the loss 
of children, land, language, lore and the spiritual and 
physical wellbeing of the people of the Kulin nation 
and other Indigenous Victorians due to the impact of 
colonisation.

We believe that acknowledging the past and its 
impact on the present is vital in building strong 
Victorian communities. We recognise the survival 
and enduring strengths of Victorian Indigenous 
culture in spite of such dispossession. We aim to 
build respectful and informed relationships with 
the Victorian Indigenous community based on the 
acknowledgement of their unique position as the 
traditional owners of Victoria. 
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FROM THE CHAIR 

Last year when I wrote my Chair report, we were all 
absolutely exhausted after COVID-19 lockdowns for 
most of the year. Nevertheless, we were hopeful that 
our efforts and that of the community, complying 
with restrictions, would reward us with a brighter 2021 
without too many restrictions. 

Unfortunately for us all, the latter dream was very 
quickly crashed with the onset of the Delta variant of 
COVID-19. This meant that Foundation House continued 
its valued work mostly digitally with a small presence at 
offices to cater for clients that preferred face-to-face 
appointments and those consumers who required one-
to-one service due to their needs.

Despite COVID-19 though, the organisation continued 
its wonderful work unabated and on 19 August 2020 
it launched the School’s in for Refugees website. This 
is a comprehensive online resource that aims to help 
schools and staff to appreciate the experience of 
young refugees, consider how refugee trauma impacts 
children’s and adolescents’ schooling, and apply a 
whole-school approach to support students of refugee 

backgrounds. This resource will be invaluable for 
students and teachers alike, and hence our excitement 
with its launch.

Another momentous occasion in the life of the 
organisation was the publication of the second edition 
of Rebuilding Shattered Lives: Integrated Trauma 
Recovery for People of Refugee Background on 15 
December 2020. This was the culmination of 20 years 
of research and work by Dr Ida Kaplan. This edition 
takes into account historical and emerging theoretical 
perspectives, as well as an increasing literature on 
intervention approaches and strategies, to assist those 
who work with people of refugee backgrounds who 
are survivors of persecution and other human rights 
violations. The organisation and survivors of torture 
that have or will benefit from this work owe a debt 
of gratitude to ‘Ida’, as she is warmly referred to at 
Foundation House. At the end of December 2020, after 
over 25 years of incredible service to Foundation House 
and survivors of torture, Ida decided to retire from paid 
work, but remains an invaluable supporter of our work.

Though work conditions have remained challenging, the 
Board of Management and the Agency Management 
Team have continued to lead the organisation in 
planning for the future. Thus, work commenced in 
earnest to develop our Strategic Plan for the next three 
years commencing July 2021. I would like to thank my 
fellow Directors who have so selflessly provided their 
time and efforts to steer the organisation through these 
challenging times.

I could not finish my report without thanking profusely 
all staff and management at Foundation House, who 
are so devoted to helping our clients and consumers 
overcome the trauma they have endured.
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FROM THE CEO 

This past year saw the COVID-19 pandemic continue to 
wreak havoc on the international community and add 
layers of complexity to our work with clients and their 
communities. The pervasive impact of COVID-19 on 
the mental health and wellbeing of the people we work 
with was intense and gruelling. Government measures 
implemented to reduce the harm caused by the 
pandemic, such as school closures and online learning, as 
well as restrictions on community and family gatherings, 
combined to create serious challenges and hardship.

The VFST provided advice to the state and federal 
governments about the impacts of COVID-19 on 
our clients and their communities, and on allocating 
additional resources for agencies to support them. That 
advocacy was well received, and our advice was often 
taken on board. For example, we provided advice about 
the challenges faced by children and young people of 
refugee backgrounds undertaking schooling online. The 
Victorian Government subsequently committed $4.6 
million to employ 66 Multicultural Education Aides to 
support educational needs. 

After establishing a new program last year to support 
clients and their communities to deal with the impact 
of COVID-19, with funding from the state and federal 
governments, the COVID Mental Health Response Project 
team demonstrated extraordinary innovation and an 
ability to deliver highly effective and culturally responsive 
programs. The team continues to do so with a focus on 
raising awareness and addressing vaccine hesitancy.

Contributing to the work of the Royal Commission 
into Victoria’s Mental Health System (RCVMHS) was a 
significant area of focus for the VFST throughout the 
year. We provided submissions, witness statements and 
other forms of advice as part of the Royal Commission’s 
consultation process. Importantly, we facilitated detailed 
conversations with our clients and representatives of 
refugee and asylum seeker communities more broadly. 
A particular focus for us was the necessity to ensure that 
Victoria’s mental health and wellbeing system was able 
to operate in a trauma-informed manner. It was pleasing 
to see that in the final report, the RCVMHS dedicated a 
chapter specifically to the impact of trauma and included 
the VFST as a case study. We look forward to supporting 
the implementation of the Royal Commission’s 
recommendations over the coming years.

The VFST also continues to advocate for the fair and 
humane treatment of asylum seekers and people held in 
immigration detention, and for human rights standards 
to be applied in determining whether people should be 
detained. In addition, we are advocating for refugees on 
Temporary Protection and Safe Haven Enterprise visas 
to be given clear, faster, and achievable pathways to 
permanent residency and citizenship. We will continue to 
push for such changes until policy and practices in this 
area are fair and appropriate.

I want to acknowledge and thank the entire VFST team 
for their continued dedication to our work, and to the 
enduring assistance they have provided to our clients, 
communities and to each other. I would also like to thank 
the VFST Board of Management, who have been ably 
led by our Chair, Remberto Rivera, and who provide 
outstanding governance, guidance and support to us all.
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OUR WORK WITH SURVIVORS

WORDS FROM A CLIENT:
‘Of course, I am still working on being afraid of many things. I used to wake up in the middle of 
the night with nightmares. It felt like there was something pushing on my chest that I wanted to 
get out. The crying has stopped most of the time, but we are still working on all those feelings. 

Without Foundation House I would have lost my life. I would have lost everything … Without 
Foundation House I think I would have lost my light. But the light is back in our lives.’

OUR CLIENTS

In the financial year 2020–21, Foundation House 
provided direct services to 3,450 survivors of 
torture and other traumatic events. 

This figure is a little lower than recent years, with the 
COVID-19 pandemic being ever present and this context 
seriously hampering some engagement efforts, despite 
significant demand for our services. Delivering group 
sessions was challenging, and most that were planned 
then had to be postponed or cancelled at short notice 
several times. Melbourne spent 130 days of the financial 
year in strict lockdown, with severe restrictions on 
movement and clients mostly seen via telehealth. Staff 
recruitment was difficult, and the context of counselling 
was particularly challenging. Unfortunately, these 
factors contributed to growing waiting lists as demand 
for our specialist services outstripped our capacity to 
take up clients. Through these difficulties, the tenacity 
of clients and staff was remarkable, with adaptation to 
new technology and ways of working through telehealth 
and therapeutic sessions outdoors, and valuable work 
progressing despite the challenges. 

Direct services for clients include a range of 
interventions, including:

• individual and family counselling with children, 
adolescents, young people and adults 

• psycho-education group sessions

• referral and facilitated access to mainstream  
and other services

• group programs

• client advocacy

• complementary therapies such as traditional  
herbal medicine and massage

• mental health clinic services

• community-based and school-based strategies  
for refugee trauma recovery

• Ucan2 program

• partnerships for service delivery across rural  
and regional Victoria. 

Counselling services are based on a comprehensive 

assessment process and a holistic approach to recovery. 

The health and wellbeing of all family members is part 

of this assessment. Choice of interventions depends 

on the severity and nature of presenting problems, and 

consideration of the client’s familiarity and acceptance 

of certain forms of assistance.

All intervention goals are based on the principles of 

recovery, which are the cornerstone of the Foundation 

House Integrated Trauma Recovery Service Model. 

Direct services provided to clients are integrated with 

our work in training and professional development, 

community and sector development and health 

promotion – all of which aim to develop and strengthen 

the resources of clients, communities and service 

providers. All of this work informs our approach to 

systemic advocacy, which seeks to advance the health, 

wellbeing and human rights of people of refugee 

backgrounds.

Collaborative work with other agencies at the individual, 

family, community and systems levels is a key feature 

of Direct Services work. Survivors of torture and other 

traumatic events typically present with multiple needs 

reflecting the legacy of the human rights violations 

they have experienced before arrival in Australia, and 

the challenges of settlement, or life in Australia while 

seeking asylum. 

RECOVERY GOALS
› Restore safety; enhance agency and control

› Restore secure attachments; promote connections to 

others; enhance a sense of belonging

› Restore meaning and purpose to life; rebuild identity; 

promote justice

› Restore dignity and value.
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WORLD MAP

TOP TEN COUNTRIES  
OF BIRTH OF CLIENTS

IRAQ – 664

AFGHANISTAN – 424

SUDAN – 108

ETHIOPIA – 112

IRAN – 461

PAKISTAN – 145

SRI LANKA – 187

BURMA (MYANMAR) – 371

SYRIA – 157

THAILAND – 87
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CLIENT PROFILE
Our clients come from over 70 countries and are 
either permanent residents, asylum seekers or 
substantive (temporary) visa holders. The top five 
countries of origin were Iraq, Iran, Afghanistan, 
Burma (Myanmar) and Sri Lanka (see Table 
1). This reflects the Australian Humanitarian 
Settlement Program data over time, as some 
clients present for assistance many years after 
arrival in Australia. Of our 3,450 clients, 54% 
were female and 46% male. 37% of our clients 
were aged under 25 years.

TABLE 1: COUNTRY OF BIRTH

COUNTRY OF BIRTH CLIENTS1

Afghanistan 424
Australia2 64
Bangladesh 14
Burma (Myanmar) 371
Cambodia 13
China 14
Congo 27
Congo, Democratic Republic of 23
Egypt 36
Eritrea 67
Ethiopia 112
India 19
Iran 461
Iraq 664
Kenya 16
Lebanon 25
Liberia 13
Malaysia 30
Nepal 17
Pakistan 145

Rwanda 11

Saudi Arabia 11
Somalia 64
South Sudan 65
Sri Lanka 187
Sudan 108
Syria 157
Thailand3 87
Tibet 16
Turkey 17
Vietnam 21
Other countries 151

Total 3,450

 
1    Clients are defined as individuals who actively received a service in 

2020-21

2  Children born in Australia of parents of refugee backgrounds.

3  Children born of parents from Burma (Myanmar).

TABLE 2: AGE AND GENDER IDENTITY 

AGE IN 
YEARS FEMALE MALE OTHER TOTAL

0–<12 138 145 283
12–<19 244 300 1 545
19–<25 252 184 436
25–<35 321 256 2 579
35–<45 403 311 714
45–<55 248 228 1 477
55–<65 175 103 278
Over 65 79 59 138

Total 1,860 1,586 4 3,450

CLIENT EXPERIENCES
The pre-arrival experiences of our clients (Tables 3 and 

4) are characterised by exposure to violence and loss, 

persecution, perpetration of human rights violations 

and forced displacement. Clients of Foundation House 

have experienced many traumatic events prior to their 

arrival in Australia that affect their health, mental health 

and capacity to meet settlement challenges. The needs 

and presenting problems of clients are multiple and 

complex because their experiences of torture, trauma 

and systemic persecution are typically repeated over 

long periods of time. In the context of the 2020–21 

financial year, the information in Table 3 is likely to be 

an underrepresentation, because the overwhelming 

COVID-19 context may have meant that pre-arrival 

experiences were disclosed at a lower rate than usual 

given the circumstances of the pandemic were so 

overwhelming.

An examination of the countries from which clients come 

indicates the long-term nature of conflict and human 

rights violations in those countries. Many children and 

young people have not known security and stability 

until their arrival in Australia. Our clients’ experiences 

of torture and other traumatic events are summarised 

in Table 3, while Table 4 provides an indication of the 

very common experiences of the death of, or forced 

separation from, immediate family members. Clients’ 

survival through such extreme adversity, bereavement 

and grief, and their commitment to rebuilding their lives 

and supporting their families, is a testimony to their 

strength and resilience.
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TABLE 3: PRE-ARRIVAL 
EXPERIENCES OF TORTURE AND 
OTHER TRAUMATIC EVENTS

CATEGORY 0-17 
YEARS

18+ 
YEARS

Frequency at 
assessment

PHYSICAL VIOLENCE

Severe beating 6% 26%

Rape or other sexual assault 2% 12% 

Any of damage to teeth, electric 
shock, genital mutilation, other <1% 4% 

Under combat fire 3% 10%

PSYCHOLOGICAL VIOLENCE

Dangerous flight 28% 32% 

Death (or assumed death/
disappearance) of significant others 15% 17% 

Forced separation from family 24% 31% 

House raided 6% 11%

Kidnapping 3% 13% 

Subject to mock executions <1% 5% 

Harm/threat of harm to family 20% 30% 

Witnessing others killed 13% 15% 

Witnessing physical violence 9% 28% 

HARDSHIP 

In hiding 11% 12% 

Internal displacement 29% 29%

Deprivation and hardship, i.e.  
life-threatening deprivation of food, 
shelter and medical attention 

19% 18%

Refugee camp 18% 19%

DETENTION: PRE-ARRIVAL

Detention – concentration camp 1% 2%

Detention – home detention 0% <1%

Legally sentenced – prison term 1% 2% 

Summary (illegal) detention 1% 9% 

TABLE 4: PRE-ARRIVAL  
TRAUMA-RELATED LOSS 

LOSS AVERAGE NUMBER OF 
OCCURRENCES

War/conflict-related loss by 
death (prior to Australia) * 1.4

War/conflict-related loss by 
separation (prior to Australia) ** 2.2

*  Average number of losses, where 1.0 is equivalent to death of a child, 
parent, sibling, or spouse 

**  Average number of losses, where 1.0 is equivalent to separation from 
a child, parent, sibling, or spouse for >6 months

CLIENT NEEDS
Tables 5 and 6 show the social/living difficulties and 
medical needs of our clients as identified during 
assessment. Most of our clients require general medical 
assistance, with 14% of adults also requiring specialist 
psychiatry, and 22% other specialist care. 

The most common areas of social/living difficulties for 
clients, whether children or adults, related to significant 
concern for family overseas followed by financial stress 
and immigration sponsorship. Employment difficulties 
are also of significant concern, and our counsellors 
reported significant housing difficulties for 32% of their 
adult clients and 26% of children/young people. Of note, 
rates of financial stress across all age groups, and family 
breakdown for under 18-year-olds were significantly 
greater than prior years, reflecting the additional burden 
of COVID-19 and associated stressors which have 
particularly impacted our clients and community cohorts.

TABLE 5: SOCIAL/LIVING 
DIFFICULTIES AT ASSESSMENT 

CATEGORY 0-17 
YEARS

18+ 
YEARS

Death of close relative or friend (in 
Australia or overseas) 12% 17% 

Employment difficulties NA 38% 

Family breakdown 28% 27% 

Financial stress 52% 54% 

Higher qualifications not recognised NA 8%

Housing difficulties 26% 32% 

Immigration (sponsorship difficulties) 31% 44% 

Major physical illness or disability in 
family 25% 25% 

School attendance difficulties 16% 15% 

Significant concern for family overseas 42% 57% 
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TABLE 6: MEDICAL AND  
SPECIALIST NEEDS 

CATEGORY 0-17 
YEARS

18+ 
YEARS

General practitioner 70% 83% 

Dental 16% 12% 

Optometry 8% 5% 

Psychiatry 4% 14% 

Specialist 17% 22% 

IMPACT OF THE GLOBAL COVID-19 
PANDEMIC
Foundation House staff responded creatively and 
flexibly to the needs of clients and to the rapidly 
changing environment created by COVID-19 as we 
moved in and out of lockdowns and differing levels of 
government restrictions throughout 2020 and 2021. We 
want to acknowledge our staff’s dedication and care 
for the needs of our clients and the communities we 
work with, at a time when they too were contending 
with their own experiences of lockdowns and COVID-19 
restrictions. In particular we need to mention the efforts 
of Alisha Hill from our Ringwood office, who mailed out 
to clients over 2,000 masks, which were kindly donated 
by a community member and the Department of Health 
and Human Services.

The lockdowns that occurred in June–July 2020 had a 
significant impact upon clients and communities, when 
the public housing towers in Flemington and North 
Melbourne, and many suburbs where many of our client 
groups lived, were locked down. We rapidly put in place 
a system to contact all known clients in those areas to 
ensure they had access to information they needed, 
food, medicines and other essential items. At that 
time, up-to-date translated information was still being 
developed and not all had access to this. There was a 
lot of misinformation, misunderstandings and mistrust 
of the systems circulating throughout communities, and 
Foundation House staff provided a trusted source of 
support and information. We now have a COVID Mental 
Health Response Team that supports communities 
throughout Melbourne.

A significant change in our service delivery as a result 
of COVID-19 has been maintaining connections with 
clients via telehealth for extended periods of time. While 
telehealth is not new, there are challenges when one 
is reliant upon interpreters and where a client may be 
technologically challenged, hard of hearing or presenting 
with serious mental illness. Screen fatigue was another 

issue that would arise, particularly for children and 
young people. One would have assumed that children 
and young people would adapt more easily to online 
sessions, however this was not always the case. For some 
clients there was difficulty finding a quiet, private and 
appropriate space in their home in which to have a Zoom 
or phone appointment uninterrupted by others.

While the transition to telehealth was challenging and 
the pivot initially energy-intensive, many clients adapted 
and many rewards were observed, including increased 
access to counselling for those with mobility/transport 
issues, health concerns, or other challenges such as 
fear of leaving their home. However, distinct differences 
between phone work and video work were observed, 
with the latter providing far more opportunities for 
therapeutic intervention. Unlike phone work, video 
enabled non-verbal information to continue to be 
communicated, and glimpsing family dynamics and home 
environment often provided useful insight which could be 
built on therapeutically. 

As restrictions eased and we became more familiar with 
the COVID-19 environment, our confidence increased in 
determining when a client needed to be seen face-to-
face, and ways to mitigate the risks of doing so.

In-person support occurred when there were levels of 
risk that required face-to-face contact to really assess a 
client’s wellbeing and to appropriately deliver the level of 
support required. Counsellors were alert to clients who 
were more at risk in terms of suicide or self-harm, family 
violence, mental health deterioration and disengagement. 
Outdoor sites were often used when safe to do so, as 
well as on site with COVID-safe practices to mitigate 
risks. Counsellors and complementary therapists quickly 
adapted and offered a ‘walk ’n’ talk’, or gentle movement 
or yoga in the park or along the river, and these spaces 
provided different insights into the lives of clients and 
the work. Outdoor sessions also provided some welcome 
relief and person-to-person interaction during periods of 
lockdown restrictions.

RESPONDING TO CHILDREN, YOUNG 
PEOPLE, ADULTS AND FAMILIES 
Most children of refugee backgrounds have been 
subjected to or have witnessed events such as war, 
bombing or shelling, death or threat of violent death 
and injury of family or friends. All have experienced 
some degree of loss, from the loss of home, place and 
culture, and friendships to the more profound loss of 
parents, siblings and significant others. Unaccompanied 
minors who arrive in Australia particularly experience 
intense grief due to separation from family members.
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On arrival in Australia, children and families are required 
to learn a new language, adapt to a new set of cultural 
norms, and orient themselves to a new and unfamiliar 
education system. Adaptation to school may be 
particularly difficult for those children who have had 
limited or no prior educative experience. We observed 
the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and the ensuing 
lockdowns and restrictions upon children, young people, 
their families and communities as they struggled with 
being extremely isolated, issues of health, mental health, 
access to services and information, home schooling and 
family relationships.

For many clients, the COVID-19 context significantly 
exacerbated their presentations, with the majority 
experiencing anxiety, low mood and depression, and 
symptoms of traumatic stress and post-traumatic 
stress disorder. Service provision is easily fractured in 
the COVID-19 context, especially for clients with low IT 
literacy, and fragile living and family situations. For some 
clients, lockdown was a reminder of war-like situations, 
and people have reported feeling more fearful of police 
when they saw them and feared being stopped when 
outside the home. 

The political unrest, targeting of citizens and outbreaks 
of fighting in Burma earlier this year, and Ethiopia and 
Eritrea in late 2020 and throughout 2021, brought 
additional impacts and demands upon the communities 
we work with. Memories of their own trauma and 
struggles, concerns for family and friends and having to 
sit with feelings of helplessness further exacerbated the 
stress and distress many clients were already feeling.

We saw an increase in concerns of family violence being 
reported by Counsellor Advocates, and parental alcohol 
and other drug use. Pressures upon families who were 
already struggling increased with the lockdowns, with 
many losing work or fearing to attend work for fear of 
infection. Several families live in overcrowded conditions 
and with multiple generations, and the risks of COVID-19 
infections within these households were high. Some 
young people were reported to not be following the 
rules of restrictions and curfews. However, for many, 
being able to have contact with friends or even just have 
time alone outside the family home brought some relief 
from these pressures.

Home schooling starkly highlighted the inequities for 
our client group, particularly in the area of technological 
literacy and access. Many families initially did not have 
the devices required to support their children to access 
classes online, let alone the internet data plans needed 
to support this. Parents were often unable to assist their 
children in managing the online schooling demands. The 
Direct Services teams joined with the Education and 

Early Years and Community Capacity Building teams to 
advocate for the needs of refugee students. 

Several psycho-education groups were facilitated at the 
English language schools in all regions to reach those 
who had recently arrived just prior to the lockdowns. 
Several of these groups were run co-jointly with 
the COVID Mental Health Response Team, to assist 
participants to understand their trauma and loss-related 
experiences, and to find ways to support one another, 
particularly within the COVID-19 context. Sessions were 
also provided to parents, some of these successfully 
online, with the aim of strengthening parents’ awareness 
of and involvement in promoting their children’s 
recovery. Transitioning back and forth between home 
and school has not been easy for many, and some will 
require intensive support to remain engaged with their 
education and social connections. 

The South Sudanese Mamma’s Group, which 
commenced in 2019, was run successfully again in 
both 2020 and 2021, online and in person. Over 60 
women have attended this group, which has provided 
a supportive and educative setting for women who are 
parents and carers of young people and their siblings 
who are involved with the criminal justice system, or at 
risk of disengagement and entering the justice system.

The African Australian Youth Program was finalised in 
December 2020, having provided support to young 
people of African background who were involved 
with or at risk of being involved with the justice 
system. This project was funded by the Department 
of Health and Human Services over a two-year period 
and commenced in 2018. For the second year the 
funding supported two Counsellor Advocates based 
in the South East and West regions, and a community 
engagement worker to work across both regions. The 
project received 92 referrals in 2020 and delivered 
psycho-education sessions in a number of settings. 
Project workers participated in networks, provided 
secondary consultations, and delivered parenting 
information, family wellbeing and support sessions 
online. Professional relationships were strengthened, 
in particular, with the youth justice sector. Foundation 
House continues to receive referrals for this cohort.

As a means to improve consistent, equitable and 
responsive access to Foundation House services, a 
centralised Intake and Access team was established, and 
from October 2020 all referrals to Foundation House are 
managed by this central team. Referrals are screened 
for risk by a qualified Counsellor Advocate as they are 
received, and all self-referrals receive a call back within 
24 hours. 
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UCAN2

Ucan2 is an education and settlement program that 
includes opportunities for work experience and 
mentoring for young people aged 16–25 who have 
recently arrived in Australia. It focuses on:

•  access to and engagement in education, training and 
employment

•  mental health and wellbeing

•  social connections and networks.

It is delivered one day per week for 16 weeks, in 
partnership with the Centre for Multicultural Youth and 
education and community organisations.

Ucan2 continued to develop creative responses 
to supporting young people throughout 2020–21, 
particularly during COVID-19, with implementation of 
innovative strategies and content for program delivery 
and engagement. The Department of Home Affairs 
extended funding for 15 months until 30 June 2022, 
ensuring Ucan2 can continue to provide support to 
young people and education providers during the 
challenging COVID-19 restrictions. 

Throughout the 2020–21 financial year, 15 Ucan2 groups 
were delivered in seven education and community 
settings across Melbourne to 296 participants from 28 
countries. Our delivery site partners included:

• Melbourne Polytechnic (Epping)

•  Noble Park English Language School  
(Noble Park, Casey)

•  Swinburne University of Technology,  
TAFE Division (Croydon)

•  Kagan TAFE Institute (Broadmeadows)

•  Chisholm TAFE (Dandenong, Berwick, Cranbourne)

•  Learning for Employment (Footscray)

•  Western English Language School (Braybrook).

The successful internship program continued with 
a third intern, a graduate from the Ucan2 program, 
working with programs to provide peer support and role 
modelling, and giving invaluable feedback regarding 
program content. The program hosted two Ucan2 
graduates for placements studying the Diploma of 
Community Services.

The Ucan2 Business Partnerships Team successfully 
developed and implemented the Employment 
Engagement Project as a direct response to the impact 
of COVID-19 for 2020–21. Our innovative approach to 
providing practical solutions to increase young people’s 

confidence and employability skills was pivotal during 
COVID-19, as partner organisations had to suspend their 
work experience and mentoring programs, which are 
usually core components of the Ucan2 program.

The Ucan2 Business Partnerships Team engaged with 
over 110 young people to provide individual support 
to update and write resumés and cover letters. The 
support provided enabled them to engage in online 
employment services independently. This has included 
online job applications, access to job links, and access 
and referral to free TAFE courses. Job searching and 
careers workshops were developed and delivered 
to provide tailored information to meet the current 
and future needs of the young people. Training to 
increase computer literacy has been a major focus 
of this project, which continues into the 2020–21 
financial year. This allows young people to develop 
the skills and confidence to be able to job search 
independently, which has seen very positive results. 
Employment outcomes for these young people have 
increased significantly with high levels of engagement 
in the offering.

The team’s longstanding relationship with Australia Post 
continues to provide employment opportunities, with 
30 young people accessing casual work throughout 
2020–21, including Christmas casual positions. As a 
direct result, several young people have gained ongoing 
employment with Australia Post. 

RESPONDING TO PEOPLE  
SEEKING ASYLUM
People seeking asylum, including those held in 
immigration detention, require an approach to 
counselling and support that takes into account: 

• a harsh policy environment

• lengthy delays in processing times to determine their 
protection claims

• increasingly restricted access to support to meet 
basic needs and access to legal advice to assist them 
to apply for protection.

And, for those who arrived without a valid visa:

• potentially prolonged and indefinite immigration 
detention

• granting of only temporary protection visas to 
people found to be refugees

• ongoing periods of separation from family overseas. 

Increasingly, we received referrals for people in 
immigration detention who have had their permanent 
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visas cancelled due to serving a prison sentence for 12 or 
more months. Some arrived here as refugees with their 
families when they were very young, and if they had 
obtained citizenship prior, it would be a different story. 
For others it is due to having their claims for protection 
reviewed when they have applied for citizenship and 
had their protection visa rescinded and failed to have 
this reinstated on appeal. For others, they have had their 
applications for protection denied and they no longer 
have a valid visa.

Foundation House works closely with a range of 
other agencies to address the pressing needs of our 
clients, including securing access to legal assistance 
for protection applications and/or appeals. This work 
became even more complex throughout the 2020–21 
financial year, as basic income and counselling support 
for asylum seekers in the community continued to 
become more restricted and difficult to access. This 
complexity intensified as the COVID-19 restrictions took 
hold, and many people seeking asylum lost employment 
and were not eligible for government COVID-19-related 
assistance such as JobKeeper or JobSeeker payments.

For many clients, the increasing risk of destitution 
for individuals and families, some of whom have 
young children, and a paralleled decrease in support, 
compounds a sense of helplessness and despair, 
which in turn greatly impacts mental health and overall 
functioning. Keeping clients and families as connected as 
possible to other supports is increasingly challenging.

COMPLEMENTARY THERAPIES
In 2020–21, the Complementary Therapies team 
continued to deliver natural therapies services to clients 
across five metropolitan sites, despite the reality that 
for much of the year there was very limited capacity 
to be physically with clients. For highly vulnerable 
clients, office visits were facilitated once necessary 
risk assessments were completed. Much of the year, 
however, required creative approaches to this healing 
aspect of recovery for our clients. Interventions like 
naturopathy and herbal medicine were able to provide 
continuous service, through sending required remedies 
through the postal service in consultation with clients 
on the phone. Hundreds of packages were sent out 
in the mail via Express Post to ensure clients received 
their remedies in a timely way. These included herbal 
medicine tinctures, teas, creams, essential oil blends, 
heat packs and nutritional supplements, which assisted 
with sleep problems, tension headaches and digestive 
symptoms. These parcels achieved much in assisting our 
clients in their ongoing isolation and dealing with their 
body pain in lockdown.

Massage, shiatsu, yoga and bodywork were at times 
delivered using video or phone – and when weather and 
context allowed, some of this work occurred outdoors 
in parks and natural settings. Modalities included guided 
relaxation and movement practices such as yoga, self-
massage with massage oil blends, self-shiatsu and 
grounding practices. While this year has been challenging 
for staff and especially clients, we have been inspired 
by our clients’ desire and commitment to engage in the 
recovery journey alongside their counselling interventions 
with this safe and gentle approach that is non-invasive, 
trauma-sensitive and holistic.  

We continued our partnership with Collective Being 
to run online yoga groups with the Chin and Karen 
community. Other groups that benefited from our input 
this year were existing and new groups, which provided 
movement and grounding practices for young people at 
English language schools, a Chin women’s group and an 
Afghan women’s group. 

Producing great excitement this year has been the 
provision of funding from the Jacka Foundation to 
evaluate the Complimentary Therapies program, after 
34 years of operation. We have engaged Cultivating 
Change to work with us to:

1. Examine what the outcomes are for clients receiving 
complementary therapies, to learn and improve 
practice.

2. Begin to build and document the evidence base on 
complementary therapies work at Foundation House.

3. Develop an adapted Foundation House client goals 
tree to enable systematic tracking of progress 
towards desired complementary therapies outcomes.

4. Build evaluation capacity of the Complementary 
Therapies team.

The timelines have been pushed out due to ongoing 
impact of COVID, however we hope to have this work 
completed by early to mid-2022.

REFUGEE MENTAL HEALTH CLINIC 
Our Refugee Mental Health Clinic, established over 18 
years ago in partnership with the Transcultural Psychiatry 
Unit, currently comprises seven clinicians including Dr 
Prem Chopra, Dr Joanne Gardiner, Dr John Gill, Dr Gita 
Mammen, Dr Peter McArdle, Dr Tahmineh Salehi and Dr 
Radhihika Satharam-Martin. They receive professional 
and administrative support from our offices and provide 
our clients with part-time bulk-billed sessions across our 
metropolitan sites. The clinic has been invaluable in the 
provision of mental health care specialist services that 
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are accessible and which overcome obstacles for our 
client group of mainstream services. This year, over 1,200 
sessions undertaken by the clinicians were provided 
to approximately 200 clients from a diverse range of 
culturally diverse backgrounds.

During the challenging context of the pandemic, most 
sessions were held via telehealth services with face-
to-face sessions resuming for short periods whenever 
possible. Our administrative team has admirably 
and flexibly managed the increased complexities 
of maintaining connection with our clients. One of 
the clinicians, Dr Prem Chopra, in noting the COVID 
context stated:

‘The impact of the prolonged lockdown has clearly 
taken its toll on many vulnerable individuals, who have 
experienced significant isolation and withdrawal. Of 
particular concern have been those patients who are 
asylum seekers, who have faced even more uncertainty 
as they await processing of their applications. Further, 
a unique challenge also presented itself with the 
management of vaccine hesitancy amongst individuals 
who presented with heightened anxiety and fear on 
the background associated with a history of exposure 
to traumatic events. Many individuals were receptive 
to discussion of general aspects of health promotion, 
including basic COVID prevention, as well as discussion 
regarding the merits of vaccination. As well as stories of 
challenges, there have also been many inspiring stories of 
resilience that patients have shared.’ 

A new development this year was the successful piloting 
of psychiatric consultations to the regional areas of 
Shepparton and Bendigo, through liaison with our 
Program Leader for Rural and Regional Services and our 
rural service provider partners. We have been fortunate 
in having Dr Tahmineh Salehi, Psychiatry Registrar, shared 
with St Vincent’s for two years, and her placement will 
be completed next January. It was heartening to see the 
strong interest for this position, and we look forward to 
welcoming the successful candidate Dr Nivanka De Silva.

We are very grateful to have these dedicated clinicians 
who collaboratively enhance our service provision to 
clients who have been subjected to multiple traumatic 
events prior to their arrival.

RURAL AND REGIONAL SERVICES 
Amidst the challenges of the pandemic, the temporary 
suspension of the Humanitarian Settlement Program 
and snap lockdowns, our rural providers have continued 
to deliver high-quality services to individuals and 
communities of refugee backgrounds living in their 

towns and regional centres, to approximately 215 
clients across the 2020–21 financial year. We thank 
our partner agencies, Barwon Child Youth & Family 
Geelong, Bendigo Community Health Service, Primary 
Care Connect Shepparton, Sunraysia Community 
Health Service Mildura, and more recently we welcome 
aboard Catholic Care Mildura, now providing torture and 
trauma counselling and support across Mildura and the 
Sunraysia region.

In 2020–21, two innovative projects were implemented in 
Geelong and Bendigo, focusing on the Karen and Afghan 
communities. Both projects established community 
advisory groups to provide advice and input into the 
development of a therapeutic group work program at 
Bendigo Community Health Service, and a mental health 
promotion strategy in Geelong. 

The crises in Burma and Afghanistan have triggered an 
increase in referrals into the torture and trauma counselling 
services across rural locations, as has the effects of 
COVID-19 outbreaks and lockdowns, which have greatly 
affected people’s mental health and wellbeing. 

More generally, there has been an increase in secondary 
consultations provided to a range of rural service 
providers and volunteer organisations. Regular 
attendance at rural settlement network meetings, and 
participation in various reference groups focusing on 
refugee mental health and wellbeing has assisted in 
identifying opportunities for capacity building activities 
in communities and with service providers. Plans are 
afoot for more face-to-face training in 2022 as Victoria 
continues to reopen. 

CLIENT PARTICIPATION AND 
ENGAGEMENT
Foundation House has been working to expand and 
improve client feedback and engagement in service 
delivery design and planning. A client satisfaction 
questionnaire was piloted in June 2021 and is now offered 
to all clients at closure. The responses will feed into a 
report that will make recommendations for ongoing 
improvements in client service provision. Further, it 
supports Foundation House’s accreditation against the 
National Standards for Mental Health Services. 

The Client Satisfaction Questionnaire (CSQ-8) is a 
standardised, validated client satisfaction measure 
designed to enhance measurement of client satisfaction 
with the provision, quality and outcome of services 
provided within health and human services programs. 
The scales are widely used in health care, mental 
health programs, education, legal, social service and 
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other human service agencies. Trusted translations 
are available in many community languages, as this 
questionnaire is also used by STARTTS, our sister 
agency in New South Wales. 

We will continue to develop an overarching Client 
Participation and Engagement Framework at Foundation 
House, and implement relevant policies and procedures 
related to client engagement, with plans to expand this 
work in 2021–22.

CHIN YOUTH AND FAMILY 
STRENGTHENING PROJECT
With the generous assistance of the Portland House 
Foundation, Foundation House developed a 12-month 
project to support the Chin community, by providing a 
range of interventions to assist young people and families 
who are experiencing challenges in their resettlement in 
a very different culture. Our family strengthening focus 
was developed to work with those who are experiencing 
disconnection from education, employment, and from 
their families and community. 

A central ingredient of the project has been the 
establishment of a Chin advisory group made up of 
representatives of the nine diverse tribal groups from 
both the eastern and western communities in Melbourne. 
This group has co-designed the development and 
direction of the project.

Key issues and topics identified by the advisory group 
for inclusion and consideration in all our interventions 
included:

1. Parenting: For adults who have limited education, 
how to parent effectively in a new and different 
society where the cultural norms and expectations 
are different.

2. Communication – cross-cultural and cross-
generational: Exploring the differences in the life 
experience of parents who grew up in Burma, and 
their children who have spent most of their lives 
in Australia, and the gap in understanding and 
communication – at times with no shared first 
language.

3. Impact of trauma: How to understand the 
complexities of the impact of past, present and 
inter-generational trauma, and then to support the 
development of positive responses within the family 
and community.

Highlights of 2020–21 included two family ‘fun days’, 
designed to bring multi-generational families together to 
participate in a shared activity that resulted in learning 
new skills, sports, education about the project, and the 
importance of supporting and delighting in each other. 
The events were held at local lawn bowls venues in the 
west and east, and attracted almost 200 people. Some 
quotes worth sharing: 

‘It was so adventurous, fun and a novel activity for me. I 
had never tried anything like this’ (from a senior member 
of the community). ‘It was so good to see my mother 
do this, and I was happy to see her laughing’ (from a 
teenager). ‘We must take a family photo – this is so 
good to be able to be together as a family and have fun 
together’ (from a parent).

The impact of COVID has limited face-to-face contact 
and meant that we have had to do our community 
development work online, which has created both 
challenges and opportunities. It has been easier to 
bring together advisory group members from across 
Melbourne via videoconference, without the necessity 
of travel. However, group work, particularly for young 
people, has been difficult. Education settings have 
had to pivot at short notice to online learning, which 
has often meant that ‘additional’ activities such as 
collaborative initiatives (which can include group work 
with our shared students and their families) has been 
delayed. However, in collaboration with our colleagues 
across Direct Services, Community Capacity Building, 
and the Education and Early Years program, there have 
been significant and positive outcomes at the student, 
parent and school levels.

The project has also been occurring at a time of major 
political crisis in Burma. This has had a major impact 
on the whole community, as concern about the safety 
and welfare of families and villages back home have 
been front and centre of the community’s discussion 
and energy. Chin State in Burma has been the focus of 
devastating political reprisals, with systematic razing of 
villages and subsequent murder and disappearances in 
our clients’ homelands. Additionally, this community has 
had their time and energy absorbed with concern for the 
health of their friends and families during the pandemic, 
in both Burma and in countries of first asylum such as 
Malaysia, where many Chin asylum seekers languish.
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Our approach to strengthening community capacity 
recognises the legacy of persecution, supports 
communities and individuals to regain control and to build 
new connections, and provides channels for communities 
to identify their priorities and issues in resettlement and, 
during 2020–21, dealing with the realities of COVID-19. 

The Community Capacity Building program is comprised 
of three teams: the Capacity Building team, the Mental 
Health Promotion team and the COVID Mental Health 
Response Project (CMHRP) team. Together, these form 
the Community team. As for all Victorians, our work 
during 2020–21 was informed by the need to respond 
to the impacts of the pandemic, rolling lockdowns and 
restrictions on daily life, and the importance of building 
connections and addressing social isolation albeit remotely 
via online mediums for most of the year.

THE CAPACITY BUILDING (CAB) TEAM
Communities represented in the CaB team are from Syria 
and Iraq, Burma (Karen and Chin) and Sierra Leone. The 
CaB team has been together for over 13 years, led by 
Susie Strehlow as Team Leader, and is funded through 
the Commonwealth Program of Assistance for Survivors 
of Torture and Trauma (PASTT). During 2020–21 the Chin 
Community Project Worker employed in the Chin Family 
Strengthening Project, funded by Portland House, joined 
the CaB Team.

THE MENTAL HEALTH PROMOTION 
TEAM
This team, led by Giovanna Citta, incorporates the mental 
health literacy program Al Rafahiya Al Sehiya Healthy 
Wellbeing project, the Low Intensity Peer Mental Health 
Support program (Together for a Better Life for social 
dialogue and psychological guidance) for the Iraqi and 
Syrian community members residing in the northern 
and western regions of Melbourne, and oversight of the 
implementation of VFST’s Integrated Health Promotion 
Plan. The Low Intensity Peer Mental Health Support 
program, funded by the North West Melbourne Primary 
Health Network, involved employment of two Peer Workers 
and a Bicultural Project Coordinator to deliver the project.

THE COVID MENTAL HEALTH 
RESPONSE PROJECT TEAM
In June 2020, Foundation House received funding from 
the Victorian Department of Health and Human Services 
and the Commonwealth Department of Health to develop 
a response to the mental health needs arising from the 
social, psychological and economic consequences of 
the COVID-19 pandemic on individuals, families and 
communities of refugee backgrounds.

The COVID Mental Health Response Project Team was 
established, staffed by a team of six Counsellor Advocates 
and five Community Project Workers from the Afghan, 
South Sudanese, Chin and Karen communities, with 
Maria Tucci as Project Leader. An important aspect of the 
project was to identify key community members/leaders 
who could work with the team as Community Advisors, 
to enhance reach into communities and to provide advice 
and co-develop responses to identified community needs.

HIGHLIGHTS OF THE WORK OF THE 
COMMUNITY TEAM DURING 2020–21

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT

Working with communities to develop responses to 
the needs and issues for community members was 
central to our work across all of the teams. This included 
consultations with leaders – both formal and informal – 
as well as the establishment of advisory groups around 
specific projects, and identification of Community 
Advisors to work with us specifically in response to 
the mental health and wellbeing impacts of COVID-19. 
Examples of this work include:

• Consultations involving more than 80 representatives 
from the Iraqi, Syrian, Chin, Karen, Karenni, Assyrian, 
Chaldean, Syriac, South Sudanese, Somali and Afghan 
communities regarding the impacts of COVID-19 
on the mental health and wellbeing of community 
members. The themes from these consultations 
were collated and documented, and have guided the 
development of key activities and resource allocation 
in the COVID Mental Health Response Project and 
of the Community Team more generally. From these 
meetings we now have 70 Community Advisors 
across the communities, interested to work with 

COMMUNITY  
CAPACITY BUILDING
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us in reaching into community to identify the more 
vulnerable members, and to provide input to strategies 
to respond to the mental health and wellbeing impacts 
of COVID-19 on community members. 

• Members of the Capacity Building Team have been 
central to the Chin Family Strengthening Project, 
playing a vital role in the establishment and facilitation 
of the Chin Advisory Group comprised 16 Chin 
community members representing the diversity within 
the Chin community across tribal groups in both the 
west and east regions of Melbourne. The project uses 
a delivery approach integrating Capacity Building and 
Direct Services, and works in partnership with the 
advisory group in the co-development of the direction 
of the project and its activities. The project has worked 
together with VFST’s Education and Early Years Team 
to develop strong relationships with schools with large 
numbers of Chin students in both regions to deliver a 
range of activities. This included cultural and country 
information sessions for school staff, co-developed and 
co-presented with Advisory Group members.

• The establishment of an advisory group comprised 
of 10 community members representing diverse 
groups within the Iraqi and Syrian communities for the 
Low Intensity Peer Mental Health Support Program 
(Together for a Better Life for social dialogue and 
psychological guidance) for these communities 
residing in the northern and western regions of 
Melbourne. In this project, community engagement 
involved strengthening community connections 
and establishing new relationships, and included 37 
community connections in the north and 12 in the west.

• For the Al Rafahiya Al Sehiya Mental Health Promotion 
and Literacy project, advisory group members from 
the diverse Syrian and Iraqi communities continued to 
provide invaluable input and insights including: mental 
health resources/information for their communities 
and for service providers; issues/challenges and 
strategies in relation the pandemic; co-presentations 
at departmental and local council forums and 
professional development sessions; and input into 
future directions of the Victorian mental health system 
as part of the Royal Commission into Victoria’s Mental 
Health System. 

• The COVID Mental Health Response Project 
established a South Sudanese Young Advisors 
Group, to advise on the needs and priorities of South 
Sudanese young people and to work towards co-
developing a service response to identified issues. 
Foundation House has since been successful in 
securing funding to develop responsive group-
based programs for South Sudanese young people, 
promoting employment and education pathways, and 
strengthening identity and connection.

• The ongoing process of information sharing of the 
high volume of COVID-19-related information with 
refugee communities throughout this crisis has been 
key to our work. Across the Community Team, staff 
played an important role in distributing information 
to communities, advocating for translated material in 
multiple languages to reach all community members, 
checking translated materials for accuracy, at times 
translating information to ensure it reached community 
members in a timely way, as well as countering 
misinformation. This process has been ongoing, as the 
messages continued to evolve in response to changes 
in government policy and responses.

• The co-development of resources and materials with 
Community Project Workers and community members 
as advisors, to improve the access of people of refugee 
backgrounds to key information and services related 
to mental health and wellbeing. This has included 
the production of in-language videos on mental 
health in collaboration with community members, 
wide dissemination of materials produced within 
community networks, and work with Sierra Leonean 
men and young people with an increased focus on 
strengthening mental health awareness.

• In partnership with the Early Years Team, we produced 
a series of four videos to support parents to assist 
their children’s transition from kindergarten to school. 
The videos were produced in Arabic, Chin, Dinka and 
Karen. While the impetus for producing these videos 
was sharing information with parents in the time of 
COVID-19 when the usual transition supports were 
not available, the videos will be valuable in the future, 
especially for newly arrived families. Team members 
translated the script, were professionally filmed 
presenting the material, checked the edited versions, 
and then were instrumental in disseminating each 
video within their communities.

• Counsellor Advocates in the COVID Mental Health 
Response Project have supported the work of 
community bicultural workers employed by other 
organisations to support communities of refugee 
backgrounds during the COVID-19 pandemic. This has 
included provision of secondary consultations and 
facilitating multiple group debriefing/self-care sessions 
for bicultural workers regarding the challenges 
inherent in the bicultural worker role, and strategies for 
sustaining their work.

• The military coup in Burma in February 2021 has had 
a devastating impact, not only on those in Burma, 
but also on the communities here, whose family 
members are directly affected. Our work with the Chin 
and Karen communities, in particular, has involved 
supporting them with the ongoing challenges they 
are experiencing at several levels (emotionally and 
practically) in response to these events. Many have 
family members in Burma who are directly affected by 
violence and displacement, and by COVID-19, which is 
spreading unchecked.
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• A Vaccine Working Group was established in the 
Community Team in response to concerns and 
hesitancy concerning COVID-19 vaccines expressed by 
members of refugee communities. The working group 
developed and disseminated ‘easy to read’ information 
about the COVID-19 vaccination program translated 
into several languages. The group has also worked 
closely with the Department of Health in facilitating 
multiple vaccine information and Q&A sessions for 
members of communities of refugee backgrounds.

GROUPS

Coming together to celebrate, worship, support, and 
to share is a core activity in the communities we work 
with. This was sorely tested during the pandemic. An 
important focus was in finding ways to continue existing 
groups and develop new group programs, so support 
could be provided into people’s homes while they were in 
lockdowns.

• Groups delivered by the Capacity Building Team 
shifted from meeting face-to-face, to meeting 
online, and more frequently, to reduce the isolation 
experienced during lockdown. These included the 
Karen Elders’ Group, the Eastern Chin Elders’ Group, 
the Arabic Women’s Group, and the St Dominic’s 
Primary School Fathers’ group, which grew to 
include mothers as well. The strong focus on older 
people recognised their vulnerability, isolation and 
challenges to mental health in the COVID context. 
Sessions focused on strengthening emotional 
wellbeing and coping strategies and strengthening 
social support. Speakers from the Victorian Human 
Rights Commission, Refugee Health Nurses, and 
Alcohol and Other Drug (AOD) support services were 
invited to respond to the needs identified by group 
participants. A highlight was yoga sessions run by 
our Complementary Therapies Team for the Karen 
and Chin Elders’ Groups, offering group members the 
chance of gentle exercise online.

• The commencement of a group for Karen women 
in the west, in partnership with the Karen Women’s 
Organisation. The group was able to experience the 
joy of meeting together face-to-face for their first 
session while lockdown restrictions were lifted for a 
brief time, but have been meeting online since – a leap 
for many participants who have not previously had 
the confidence in their technical experience to engage 
online. The group has focused on support for the 
myriad of challenges facing families during lockdown, 
including challenges of supporting children with 
schooling from home.

• Ongoing meetings of Karen Elders to prepare the 
written documentation of their life histories for a 
booklet to be shared with the community later in 2021. 
This group has been an important source of support 
for members at this time of crisis in Burma.

• Providing group programs in the COVID Mental Health 
Response Project to support the mental health of 
people of refugee backgrounds that are responsive 
to their identified needs and preferences. Group 
programs have involved Community Project Workers 
working alongside Counsellor Advocates to develop 
and co-facilitate groups. Multiple groups with children 
and young people have been facilitated in primary 
schools, secondary schools and English Language 
Centres. In addition, several community-specific groups 
have been facilitated including Afghan women’s 
groups, a Syriac Seniors’ group, a South Sudanese 
women’s group, a Chin families’ group, a Karen young 
women’s group, and an asylum seeker men’s group. 
Group programs have been adapted to suit online 
delivery when necessitated by COVID-19 restrictions.

• Following successful employment and integration 
of a peer workforce within the Community Capacity 
Building program, the Peer Support Project team 
successfully co-developed the peer mental health 
support group program with input from advisory 
group members and group participants. Peer Workers 
delivered four peer support group programs and eight 
introduction sessions during 2020–21, and will deliver 
further group programs for the remainder of the 
funding period.

• As part of the Al Rafahiya Al Sehiya Healthy Wellbeing 
project, co-development and delivery of mental health 
workshops/programs took place as a response to 
community members struggling with their mental 
health due to the impact of COVID-19. In addition, 
there was the co-development and delivery of two 
yoga programs specifically tailored to the needs of 
women from Iraq and Syria.

In addition to the extensive group program in the COVID 
Mental Health Response Project Team, Counsellor 
Advocates employed in the project provided counselling 
and advocacy to individuals and families whose mental 
health has been impacted by COVID-19. Criteria for 
referral to the team for counselling was established, 
in collaboration with Direct Services, with the main 
criteria being people of refugee backgrounds who were 
recently arrived, or who had arrived post the onset of 
the pandemic, and whose settlement process had been 
disrupted in the COVID-19 context of lockdown and 
restrictions. 

During 2020–21, we welcomed into the Community 
Team 14 new staff members and four casual Bicultural 
Community Workers. It is a testament to all that 
they have formed a strong and cohesive team and 
managed to adapt to the challenges presented by the 
pandemic while being able to remain engaged with their 
communities in delivering what has been described 
above, as well as the rest of the work within the 
Community Capacity Building Program.
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In 2020–21, the Practice and Sector Development (PSD) 
Program continued to grow through the uncertainty and 
turbulence of the COVID-19 pandemic. The program 
played a significant role in supporting and building the 
capability of Foundation House staff to provide support 
to individuals, families and communities, as well as 
external services providers to respond to the needs of 
refugee communities during the pandemic.

The mental health and wellbeing of staff at Foundation 
House and other organisations has been a primary 
preoccupation of the program, as we effectively moved 
our professional learning, communities of practice, 
supervision, sustainable practice group sessions and 
consultancy online. We were able continue to provide a 
high-quality and responsive service in a changing and 
challenging environment, with very positive feedback 
from participants about our online services. This will lead 
to changes to how we deliver services in the future – in 
particular, to rural and regional services, across state 
borders and internationally.

PRACTICE DEVELOPMENT AND 
LEARNING (PDL)
Over the year PDL provided: 

• 219 Internal Group Reflective Supervision sessions

• 632 Internal Individual Reflective Supervision 
sessions

• 71 Internal Specialist Consultation sessions

• 170 Professional Development and Learning sessions

• 2,629 total Professional Learning session 
participants.

PDL DEVELOPING PRACTICE 
DURING COVID 
PDL has continued to provide services under a time of 
uncertainty at the local and global levels. The pandemic 
and conflicts around the world have shaped how we 
provide individual and group reflective supervision, 
critical reflection on practice, specialist consultations, 
sustainable practice and professional learning sessions.

This year we introduced internally the practice workshops 
as another reflective practice activity. The workshops 
aimed to deepen clinical knowledge and practice by 
working through cases and making links to theory and 
evidence-informed interventions.

Our practice and learning strategies and activities 
were guided by Rebuilding Shattered Lives and the 
Practice Development Framework, which provided 
a clear reference point and innovation to respond to 
unprecedented events.

PDL continued providing reflective and learning spaces 
online, and needed to rethink the delivery of those 
activities in the context of COVID and other international 
crises, and its impact on staff and communities while 
remaining true to our trauma-informed practice 
principles. The team managed the complex interplay of 
personal and professional staff challenges, organisational 
challenges, and local and global events during the year.

The team actively supported staff to understand the way 
they practised when working from home, while home 
schooling and working in isolation, which resulted in the 
delivery of PDL activities more flexibly and sensitively. 
Issues related to working online and not in the office, 
such as availability of appropriate spaces for reflective 
activities, confidentiality and interruption to the reflective 
process have been of particular focus. Respect for each 
other has been paramount in the delivery of our activities.

Individual follow-ups and communication processes 
increased in this period to promote staff inclusion, 
increase level of support and value individual 
contributions. To reduce the impact on group activities, 
more emphasis was put on strategies that enhance group 
participants’ communication and connection.

PRACTICE AND SECTOR 
DEVELOPMENT
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IMPROVEMENTS TO THE 
PROFESSIONAL LEARNING 
PROGRAM
This year saw a further expansion of the Professional 
Learning program offered both internally to VFST 
staff, and externally to practitioners and organisations 
providing services to people from refugee and asylum-
seeking backgrounds. In 2020–21 we focused on refining 
our existing suite of professional learning modules, and 
adding new material particularly in the area of trauma-
informed practice, leadership, working with children 
and adolescents, working with groups, working with 
communities, and working with those from refugee 
backgrounds in health settings.

This year trauma-informed practice training was rolled 
out for all VFST staff through the design and delivery 
of new professional leaning module, Trauma-informed 
Practice: An Organisational Systems Approach to 
Supporting Recovery. 

PDL worked in collaboration with practitioners from other 
VFST program areas to develop and deliver a trauma-
informed group work series for VFST staff, which will be 
adapted for an external audience in 2022. The modules 
include: Group Work: Theory and Practice, Group Work: 
Psycho-education, and Group Work: Psycho-therapeutic. 

Specialist content on the impact of refugee-related 
trauma on children and young people was developed 
and delivered to VFST Counsellor Advocates in a new 
module Working Therapeutically with Children and 
Adolescents. This module will be added to our external 
professional learning calendar in late 2021, and will 
increase our offerings in trauma-informed practice with 
children and young people, alongside Development and 
Trauma: Understanding the Life Trajectories of Survivors 
of Trauma developed the previous year.

NEW TRAINING MODULES INCLUDE:

• Trauma-Informed Practice: An Organisational 
Systems Approach to Supporting Recovery

• Working Therapeutically with Children and 
Adolescents

• Community Capacity Building: Theory and Practice

• Writing Reports for People Seeking Asylum

• Group Work: Theory and Practice

• Group Work: Psycho-education

• Health & Engagement: Supporting Refugee LGBTIQ 
Members (Nurses and Allied Health program)

• Children and Adolescents: Trauma, Health and 
Development (Nurses and Allied Health program)

• Webinar Series. Topics: Supporting People from 
Refugee Backgrounds – Emergency Departments; 
Supporting People from Refugee Backgrounds – 
Outpatient Departments (Nurses and Allied Health 
program).

UPDATED MODULES INCLUDE: 

• Community Capacity Building: Engaging 
Communities about Mental Health

• Development & Trauma: Understanding the Life 
Trajectories of Survivors of Trauma

• Counselling Survivors of Trauma

• Trauma-Focused Assessment & Formulation

• Understanding and Recognising Complex Mental 
Health Presentations

• Working Therapeutically with People Seeking 
Asylum.

TRAUMA-INFORMED PRACTICE 
LECTURE SERIES
PDL launched a quarterly, online Trauma-informed 
Practice Lecture Series in May 2021. The first three 
lectures of the series were presented by Dr Ida Kaplan, 
drawing on concepts in her book Rebuilding Shattered 
Lives (2nd Edition). The 2021 Lecture Series was attended 
by a broad participant group including practitioners 
from health, education, mental health, community, youth, 
settlement, and justice sectors from Victoria, Australia 
and internationally.

ENHANCING TECHNOLOGY FOR 
PROFESSIONAL LEARNING DURING 
COVID-19 AND BEYOND
PDL expanded its suite of professional learning delivery 
modes to increase accessibility and flexibility for 
participants, ensuring professional learning delivery could 
continue throughout the lockdowns in Melbourne and 
Victoria. Modes now include onsite workshops, online 
live-streamed workshops, live webinars, an online module 
and blended learning short courses, which combine 
self-paced learning via the Foundation House Learning 
Management System, with interactive onsite/online 
workshops.

For the first time, five core PDL professional learning 
modules were converted to blended learning short 
courses in the first half of 2021. This work involved 
collaborative input from different roles across the PDL 
team and the VFST Communications team. 
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BLENDED LEARNING SHORT COURSES: 

• Development & Trauma: Understanding the Life 
Trajectories of Survivors of Trauma

• Counselling Survivors of Trauma

• Trauma-Focused Assessment & Formulation

• Understanding and Recognising Complex Mental 
Health Presentations

• Working Therapeutically with People Seeking 
Asylum.

Blended learning will continue into 2022, as participant 
feedback on this delivery mode has been overwhelmingly 
positive. 

A key focus of the work of the PDL Business Team has 
been continual improvement of the user experience 
related to the professional learning enrolment, and 
support for participants accessing professional learning 
via online platforms. 

PARTNERSHIPS 
PDL has partnered with several agencies across practice 
areas including youth justice, people seeking asylum, 
settlement support, community health, maternity 
and infant health, child and youth mental health and 
legal support, to enhance the skills and knowledge of 
individual practitioners, organisations and systems. 
PDL’s work with external agencies is informed by 
the Foundation House Integrated Trauma Recovery 
Framework and Practice Development Framework, 
Rebuilding Shattered Lives (2nd Edition), and includes 
organisational consultancy, tailored professional learning, 
specialist practice consultations, reflective supervision, 
reflective practice and e-learning. 

EXAMPLES OF PARTNERSHIP WORK

• United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees 
(UNHCR): Foundation House has led a consultation 
process with UNHCR Canberra to develop and 
implement a practice development framework 
to strengthen staff supervision, professional 
development and support

• Life Without Barriers (LWB): The LWB Trauma-
informed Leadership program continued over 
the year. PDL facilitated seven of a ten-module 
leadership program with the LWB National Migration 
Support Leadership Team

• Youth Justice South Eastern Metropolitan Region: An 
eight-part professional learning series, Working with 
African Australian Youth & Families, was designed 
and facilitated through a collaboration between 
PDL, Direct Service and Community Capacity 
Building team members, with invaluable input from 
facilitators with lived experience. 

RESEARCH AND KNOWLEDGE 
TRANSFER
The Foundation House research program continued 
to grow, with some exciting and innovative projects 
with our research partners. The Practice, Innovation 
and Knowledge (PIK) group was continued, to oversee 
the research program. The function of the group is to 
review external and internal research and evaluation 
projects, in order to ensure that research proposals meet 
methodological and ethical requirements. Foundation 
House also has an Institutional Ethics Committee with the 
following members:

• Dr Dick Sloman (Chair) 

• Fr Andrew Hamilton 

• Prof Helen Herrman 

• Jill Jameson 

• Dr Caroline Lambert 

• David Manne 

• Prof Rhonda Small 

• Dr Peter Streker 

RESEARCH PROJECT PARTNERSHIPS

‘STRONG FAMILIES STRONG BABIES’ (MURDOCH 
CHILDREN’S RESEARCH INSTITUTE)

PDL is in consultation with Murdoch Children’s Research 
Institute to provide professional learning workshops 
and Critical Reflection on Practice (CRoP) groups 
to key stakeholders of the Strong Families Strong 
Babies project, which aims to reorient maternity and 
early childhood health care to address the social 
determinants of health known to contribute to low 
birth weight. Professional learning will focus on trauma-
informed practice with women and families of refugee 
backgrounds.
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EDUCATION AND EARLY YEARS
Supporting schools in remote learning and school re-
engagement has been a major theme for Foundation 
House during the reporting period.

A successful outcome during 2020–21 was to keep 
schools engaged in the Refugee Education Support 
Program (RESP) with an adapted online professional 
development workshop and action planning program. In 
July 2020, 30 schools were engaged in the program.

Another highlight has been the development of RESP 
collaterals to promote the program across the sector. 
Additional Refugee Education Support Program (RESP) 
content was added to the School’s In for Refugees 
website, which enables schools to apply online.

Secondary consultations to schools have well exceeded 
targets, with schools contacting Foundation House 
seeking assistance and advice as they grappled with 
remote learning, supporting students and families, and 
transitioning students back to onsite learning. Similarly, 
our networking, stakeholder engagement and policy 
work has magnified as we endeavored to collect and 
share information across the sector. 

The School’s In for Refugees website was launched on 
19 August 2020, with 330 participants from across the 
Victorian education sector. The website has continued 
to grow in its professional learning content and has 
exceeded targets in terms of visitors, with the design 
and content widely praised. During the reporting period, 
the website attracted 3,972 individual users. Continuing 
throughout the pandemic, the website has proven a 
vital resource hub as schools access and download 
important resources. 

A major piece of work has been the development of a 
digital professional learning resource addressing the 
Australian Professional Standards for Teachers and 
the Trauma Recovery Goals, which enables teachers 
to demonstrate how their students’ improved learning 
outcomes and trauma recovery aligns to the standards 
and demonstrates their professional growth. 

Our work with Multicultural Education Aides (MEAs) in 
schools has continued to grow. We received funding 
from the Victorian Department of Education and Training 
(DET) to consolidate the three existing MEA Networks 
(Hume, Brimbank/Melton and Bendigo) and establish 
another three in Wyndham, Geelong and Casey/Greater 

Dandenong. Additionally, we delivered six state-wide 
online professional learning events to MEAs and school 
leaders supporting them, with 481 participants.

During 2020, the Early Years program activities were 
focused upon the second half of the Melton Community 
of Practice (CoP), professional learning workshop 
requests, and working with services to successfully 
establish a west metropolitan area managers’ forum 
around early years services supporting families from 
refugee backgrounds. Two important online resources 
were developed to assist services using interpreters and 
engaging families.

Continuing what was started in 2020, work has 
continued supporting early years services around their 
communication with and support of families, primarily 
through secondary consultations, planning meetings and 
sharing resources. 

Early Start Kindergarten (ESK) has featured as a 
theme among the 54 consultations delivered over 
the six months between January and-June 2021. 
ESK barriers and facilitators have also featured in our 
tailored PL workshops. We have worked closely with the 
Kindergarten Engagement Network. The uptake of online 
professional learning by early years services has been 
striking, with PLs being consistently fully booked.

Another highlight has been the successful establishment 
of the Bendigo Community of Practice, with 11 early 
childhood services now CoP members. The CoP has 
exceeded expectations in a difficult COVID climate. 
Already we have seen terrific participation, and members 
began work on their audits of current practices and 
improvement action planning.

Finally, the EEY team collaborated with the Community 
Capacity Building team on the Kinder to School 
Transition webinar project, which was a huge success. 
The project produced a series of videos in four languages 
(Arabic, Dinka, Hakha Chin and Karen) uploaded online, 
addressing dimensions of transitioning children from 
kindergarten to school.
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VICTORIAN REFUGEE HEALTH 
NETWORK 
The vision of the Victorian Refugee Health Network (‘the 
Network’) is that ‘Victorians from refugee backgrounds, 
including those seeking asylum, have timely access to 
appropriate services and other resources required to 
build and maintain health and wellbeing.’

We do this by facilitating greater coordination and 
collaboration among health and community services to 
provide more accessible and appropriate health services 
for people of refugee backgrounds. We work to:

• build the capacity of the Victorian health sector 
to respond to health concerns experienced by 
people of refugee backgrounds and address health 
inequality through health promotion

• support services to be more accessible to people 
from refugee backgrounds, particularly in regional 
and outer metropolitan areas, and to improve service 
coordination for recent arrivals and those with more 
complex needs.

SECTOR ENGAGEMENT 

This year the Network conducted three state-wide 
meetings for health professionals and related working 
groups across Victoria, including specialist speakers 
and topics such as mental health reform, research in the 
sector and refugee advocacy.

The Network regularly contributes to the work of our 
national network, the Refugee Health Network of 
Australia. We also continue to gather and disseminate 
key resources and information relating to refugee health 
and wellbeing via our e-Bulletin, which goes out to 
approximately 2,000 subscribers. 

This reporting period saw the initiation and development 
of two key communities of practice for the Network: 
Clinical and Mental Health. The communities provide 
a forum for practitioners providing care and working 
with people of refugee backgrounds, including those 
seeking asylum, to raise concerns and considerations on 
emerging health issues and trends in Victoria, with the 
aim of sharing ideas and resources, and the development 
of strategic approaches to problem-solving, including 
policy guidance.

ADVOCACY 

Influencing and informing state and federal policy and 
practice is an ongoing priority for the Network.

In this reporting period, we contributed several 
submissions and consultations to state and federal 
inquiries and processes, most notably:

• Victoria’s State Disability Plan 2021–24

• National Safety and Quality Health Service 
Standards: health service organisation providing care 
for patients from migrant and refugee backgrounds

• Australia’s Humanitarian Program 2021–22

• Victoria’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Act.

To advocate for the refugee voice, the Network also 
engaged with the Victorian Law Reform Commission to 
support Improving the Response of the Justice System 
to Sexual Offences, and continued work with feedback 
into Victoria’s mental health reforms. The Network is 
represented on external networks and working groups 
relating to mental health, disability and primary care.

COVID-19 RESPONSE 

The Network facilitated coordination and collaboration 
across government, health and community services 
throughout the COVID-19 pandemic. We convened 
sector and government stakeholder meetings to share 
information, identify issues affecting individuals and 
communities of refugee backgrounds, and support 
responses. We also developed and supported guidance 
on equity and access to the vaccination program, and 
provided sector representation on the State Government 
CALD (culturally and linguistically diverse) Health 
Advisory Panel.

We increased the frequency and volume of our digital 
activities through the e-Bulletin and website to ensure 
that critical information and resources reached our 
subscribers and the wider sector, in what has been a 
rapidly shifting information and practice environment.
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TREASURER’S 
REPORT 
I am pleased to present the 2020–21 Annual Accounts of Foundation House. The financial statements for the year 
show that the activities of the organisation resulted in an operating surplus of $4k. The financial result for the year 
is pleasing given the economic uncertainty and challenges resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic. Congratulations 
are due to management for quickly adapting to new ways of delivering service to our clients and their communities, 
while also safeguarding their health and welfare as well as that of our staff, and contributing to the wider community 
response to COVID-19.

Funding from all sources increased by $1.88m or 9.6% from $19.4m in 2019–20 to $21.3m in 2020–21. The increase in 
revenue is primarily due to COVID-related funding from both federal and state governments.

Total expenditure for the year increased by $2.02m or 1.1% from $19.2m in 2019–20 to $21.3m in 2020–21. As in 
previous years, the largest expense category was salaries and associated salary on-costs (including leave provisions). 

This represented 76% of total expenses (75% in the previous financial year).

FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 30 JUNE 2021
The financial position of the organisation has strengthened, with total assets increasing by $883k and total liabilities 
increasing by $878k, resulting in net assets increasing by $4k. Total equity also increased by $4k as a result of the total 
overall surplus.

Liquidity remains strong in the short term with $1.35 of current assets to fund every $1 of current obligations.

The cash component of the surplus has been used by management to increase the general reserve – due to the 
small surplus this adjustment was only $4k. The general reserve represents a reserve to expenditure ratio of 15.1%. 
The Board of Management has determined that a reserve to expenditure ratio ranging from 15% to 18% represents a 
desirable target. The purpose of the reserve is to meet future commitments or unforeseen expenses and to help curb 
any negative impact on Foundation House’s ability to deliver services or develop the organisation in accordance with 
its Strategic Plan. 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
The relationships that Foundation House has with the Commonwealth Government, Victorian Government, 

philanthropic bodies and charitable trusts, which support quality service delivery to survivors of torture and 

other traumatic events, is acknowledged every year. However, in 2020–21, which will be recorded by history as an 

extraordinary year, funding from the federal and state governments has not only been maintained for our programs 

but increased to assist with our response to the pandemic. We also acknowledge the Australian Government stimulus 

package for not-for-profits, which contributed to maintaining service delivery. 

 

 
RICHARD HOME  
Treasurer  

12 October 2021
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TREASURER’S 
REPORT BOARD’S REPORT 

Your Board Members submit the financial report of  
The Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture  
for the financial year ended 30 June 2021.

BOARD MEMBERS
The names of Board members throughout the financial 
year are below:

•  Remberto Rivera (Chair)

•  Helen Casey (Deputy) 

•  Richard Home (Treasurer)

•  Theodora Elia-Adams (Secretary)

•  Kirsten Pilatti

•  Dick Sloman

•  David Bilander (Term expired 24/11/2020)

•  Travers McLeod

•  Chantelle Radwan (Appointed 30/03/2021)

•  Shayne Lucas (Appointed 15/09/2020)

•  Shaymaa Elkadi (Appointed 15/09/2020) 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the association is to provide a 
range of support services to survivors of torture and 
other traumatic events who currently reside in Victoria. 

OPERATING RESULT
The surplus amounted to $3,980 (2020: Surplus $147,142).

AFTER BALANCE DATE EVENTS
No matters or circumstances have arisen since the 
end of the financial year which significantly affect 
the operations of the association, the results of those 
operations, or the state of affairs of the association in 
future financial years.

AUDITOR INDEPENDENCE 
DECLARATION
The lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration is set 
out on page 34 and forms part of the Board Members 
Report for the year ended 30 June 2021.

Signed in accordance with a resolution by the members 

of the Board of Management:

RICHARD HOME  
Treasurer 

12 October 2021

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

NOTES 2021 2020

$ $

REVENUE 2 21,313,377 19,432,639

Salaries, wages and on-costs (16,114,063) (14,426,865)

FASSTT expenses (44,181) (38,693)

Bank and credit card charges (2,871) (4,879)

Building and occupancy costs (880,416) (994,455)

Equipment, computing / IT, supplies and 
depreciation (411,548) (174,744)

Conferences, seminars, publications and 
professional development (184,747)

Interpreting costs (130,907)

Program, consultant, contractor and client costs (100,049) (2,012,629)

Advertising, agency and Board expenses (831,427) (781,468)

Motor vehicle expenses and depreciation (2,162,258) (1,935,394)

Client travel expenses (5,668) (20,181)

Printing, stationery and postage (198,574) (308,342)

Telephone expenses (43,083) (52,165)

Professional fees (50,983) (79,762)

Other expenses (316,428) (269,933)

TOTAL EXPENDITURE FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (21,309,397) (19,285,497) 

OPERATING SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 3,980 147,142

Non-operating expenses

Redundancies - -

Surplus/(deficit) for the period 3,980 147,142

Other comprehensive income - -

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD

3 3,980 147,142

The statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in 

conjunction with the notes to and forming part of the financial statements.

FINANCIAL REPORTHE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021
THE VICTORIAN FOUNDATION FOR SURVIVORS OF TORTURE INC. ABN: 52 783 974 656
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 30 JUNE 2021

NOTES 2021 2020

$ $

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 5 3,678,930 2,048,579

Financial assets 6 4,506,164 4,420,000

Trade and other receivables 7 267,160 570,576

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 8,452,255 7,039,155

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 8 1,026,878 1,116,455

Right-of-use assets 9 1,030,979 1,472,212

TOTAL NON CURRENT ASSETS 2,057,857 2,588,667

TOTAL ASSETS 10,510,112 9,627,823

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 10 1,282,726 554,120

Contract liabilities (deferred income) 1,962,206 1,464,917

Provisions 11 2,632,926 2,272,151

Lease liabilities 401,208 436,728

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 6,279,066 4,727,916

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Provisions 11 312,024 609,882

Lease liabilities 692,866 1,067,849

TOTAL NON CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,004,890 1,677,731

TOTAL LIABILITIES 7,283,955 6,405,647

NET ASSETS 3,226,156 3,222,175

EQUITY

Retained earnings 12 1,111,799 1,108,799

Ian McKenzie Reserve 13 40,234 43,234

General Reserve 13 2,074,122 2,070,142

TOTAL EQUITY 3,226,156 3,222,175

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

NOTES 2021 2020

$ $

RETAINED EARNINGS

Opening balance 1,108,799 1,105,799

Total comprehensive income for the period 3,980 147,142

Transfer (to)/from Ian McKenzie reserve 3,000 3,000

Transfer (to)/from general reserve (3,980) (147,142)

Closing Balance 12 1,111,799 1,108,799

GENERAL RESERVE

Opening reserves 2,070,142 1,923,000

Transfers from retained earnings 3,980 147,142

Closing Balance 13 2,074,122 2,070,142

IAN McKENZIE RESERVE

Opening reserves 43,234 46,234

Transfers from retained earnings (3,000) (3,000)

Closing Balance 13 40,234 43,234

TOTAL EQUITY AT YEAR END 3,226,156 3,222,175

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

NOTES 2021 2020

$ $

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from governments grants and others 24,238,192 21,912,050

Payments to consultants, suppliers and employees (22,007,187) (20,365,759)

Interest received 63,795 145,098

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 14 2,294,800 1,691,389

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Investments into short-term deposit (86,164) (80,000)

Payments for property, plant and equipment (131,630) (315,746)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment - 133,320

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities (217,794) (262,426)

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Payment of lease liabilities (446,655) (450,669)

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities (446,655) (450,669)

NET (DECREASE )/NCREASE IN CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS

1,630,351 978,294

Cash at beginning of financial year 2,048,579 1,070,285

CASH AT END OF FINANCIAL YEAR 5 3,678,930 2,048,579

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial report covers The Victorian Foundation for 
Survivors of Torture as an individual entity. The Victorian 
Foundation for Survivors of Torture is an association 
incorporated and domiciled in Victoria, Australia.

The financial report is a general purpose financial report 
that has been prepared in accordance with the Australian 
Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements 
of the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and 
the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission 
Act 2012 and the Associations Incorporation Reform Act 
2012 The association is considered to be a not-for-profit 
entity for financial reporting purposes under Australian 
Accounting Standards.

Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting 
policies that the AASB has concluded would result in 
financial report containing relevant and reliable information 
about transactions, events and conditions. Material 
accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these 
financial statements are presented below and have been 
consistently applied unless stated otherwise

All amounts are presented in Australian dollars. The 
financial report was authorised for issue by the Board 
of Management on the date shown on the Board of 
Management declaration.
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Reporting Basis and Conventions

The financial report, except for the cash flow information, has 
been prepared on an accruals basis and is based on historical 
costs modified by the revaluation of selected non-current 
assets, and financial assets and financial liabilities for which 
the fair value basis of accounting has been applied.

Significant Judgements and Key Assumptions

Performance obligations under AASB 15

For a performance obligation to exist under AASB 15, 
the promise must be sufficiently specific to be able to 
determine when the obligation is satisfied.

Management exercises judgement to determine whether 
the promise is sufficiently specific by taking into account 
any conditions specified in the arrangement, explicit or 
implicit, regarding the promised goods or services. In 
making this assessment, management includes the nature/
type, cost/value, quantity and the period of transfer related 
to the goods or services promised.

In relation to revenue from government grants, the 
association principally uses an input method, costs incurred, 
to measure the satisfaction of performance obligations over 
time. In conjunction with the application of this method, 
management reviews whether applicable performance 
targets contained in within the grant agreement have  
also been sufficiently met, to the extent that revenue has 
been recognised.

Lease term and options to extend under AASB 16

The lease term is defined as the non-cancellable period of 
a lease together with both periods covered by an option 
to extend the lease if the lessee is reasonably certain to 
exercise that option; and also periods covered by an option 
to terminate the lease if the lessee is reasonably certain not 
to exercise that option. The options that are reasonably 
going to be exercised is a key management judgement that 
the association will make.

The association determines the likelihood that it will 
exercise the options on a lease- by-lease basis, looking at 
various factors such as which assets are key to the future 
strategies of the association.

Other than described above, no significant judgements 
have been made in applying accounting policies that have  
a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements.

No key assumptions have been made concerning the 
future and there are no other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the balance date that the Board Members 
consider have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year.

Accounting Policies

(a)  Income Tax

The Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture Inc. is 
a charitable association registered with the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission and is exempt 
from income tax under Subsection 50-5 of the Income 
Tax Assessment Act 1997.

(b)  Property, Plant and Equipment

Each class of property plant and equipment is carried at 
cost less any accumulated depreciation.

Plant and Equipment

Plant and equipment is carried at cost less any 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed 
annually by the association to ensure it is not in excess of 
the recoverable amount of those assets.

The recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less 
costs to sell and the depreciated replacement cost.

Fixed assets valued at $4,000 or above are measured at 
historical cost less depreciation.

Depreciation

The depreciable amounts of all fixed assets are depreciated 
over the useful lives of the assets to the association 
commencing from the time the asset was held ready for use.

Leasehold improvements are amortised over the shorter of 
either the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated 
useful lives of the improvements.

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable 
assets are:

CLASS OF FIXED ASSET DEPRECIATION RATES DEPRECIATION BASIS

Building and improvements 6.67-50% Straight Line

Plant and equipment 10–33% Straight line

Motor vehicles 27.5% Diminishing value

(c)  Leases

Right-of-use asset

At the lease commencement, the association recognises a 
right-of-use asset and associated lease liability for the lease 
term. The lease term includes extension periods where the 
association believes it is reasonably certain that the option 
will be exercised.

The right-of-use asset is measured using the cost model 
where cost on initial recognition comprises of the lease 
liability, initial direct costs, prepaid lease payments and 
estimated cost of removal and restoration, less any lease 
incentives received.
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The right-of-use asset is depreciated over the lease term 
on a straight-line basis and assessed for impairment in 
accordance with the impairment of non-financial assets 
accounting policy.

Lease liability

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value 
of the remaining lease payments at the commencement of 
the lease. The discount rate is the rate implicit in the lease, 
however where this cannot be readily determined, the 
association’s incremental borrowing rate is used.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the lease liability is 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method. The lease liability is remeasured whether there is a 
lease modification, change in estimate of the lease term or 
index upon which the lease payments are based (e.g. CPI), 
or a change in the assessment of lease term.

Where the lease liability is remeasured, the right-of-
use asset is adjusted to reflect the remeasurement or is 
recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the 
right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

Exceptions to lease accounting

The association has elected to apply the exceptions to 
lease accounting for both short-term leases (i.e. leases with 
a term of less than or equal to 12 months) and leases of 
low-value assets. The association recognises the payments 
associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

(d)  Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period the association 
determines whether there is an evidence of an impairment 
indicator for non-financial assets.

Where an indicator exists (and regardless for indefinite life 
intangible assets and intangible assets not yet available 
for use) the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated. 
Where assets do not operate independently of other assets, 
the recoverable amount of the relevant cash-generating 
unit (CGU) is estimated.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the higher 
of the fair value less costs of disposal and the value in use. 
Value in use is the present value of the future cash flows 
expected to be derived from an asset or cash-generating 
unit. Where the recoverable amount is less than the 
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised in profit 
or loss.

Reversal indicators are considered in subsequent periods 
for all assets which have suffered an impairment loss.

(e)  Employee Benefits

Provision is made for the association’s liability for employee 
benefits arising from services rendered by employees to 
balance date. Employee benefits expected to be settled 
within one year together with benefits arising from wages 
and salaries, and annual leave which will be settled after 
one year, have been measured at the amounts expected to 
be paid when the liability is settled plus related on-costs. 
Other employee benefits payable later than one year have 
been measured at the present value of the estimated future 
cash outflows to be made for those benefits.

Contributions are made by the association to an employee 
superannuation fund and are charged as expenses when 
incurred. 

(f)  Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits 
held at-call with banks, and other short-term highly liquid 
investments. Term deposits exceeding three months are 
recorded as a financial asset.

(g)  Revenue

Revenue from contracts with customers

The association generates fee income from the provision 
for counselling and support services. Revenue is recognised 
based on the satisfaction of performance obligations 
contained in the contract with the customer. This is usually 
at the point-in-time the counselling sessions and support 
activities are provided.

Contract assets and liabilities

Consideration paid by the customer in advance of the 
satisfaction of performance obligations is recognised as a 
contract liability.

Costs incurred in fulfilling a contract in progress (where 
performance obligations are not yet satisfied) are 
recognised as a contract cost asset where the costs 
relate directly to the satisfaction of contract performance 
obligations and are expected to be recovered.

Grants and donations

When the association receives grants and donations it 
assesses whether a contract exists and whether that 
contract is enforceable and has sufficiently specific 
performance obligations in accordance with AASB 15.

When these conditions are satisfied, the association:

• identifies each performance obligation relating to 
the grant or donation;

• recognises a contract liability for its obligations 
under the contract; and
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• recognises revenue as it satisfied its performance 
obligations.

When the contract is not enforceable or does not have 
sufficiently specific performance obligations, the grant or 
donation is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Government grants under the Australian Government cash 
flow boost initiative have been recognised as revenue the 
association became entitled to receive the grants, which 
was assessed to be the time at which the applicable 
Activity Statements were lodged with the Australian 
Taxation Office.

Interest revenue
Interest revenue is recognised on a proportional basis 
taking into account the interest rates applicable to the 
financial assets.

(h)  Financial Instruments

Financial instruments are recognised initially on the date 
that the association becomes party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. On initial recognition, all 
financial instruments are measured at fair value plus 
transaction costs.

Financial assets
All recognised financial assets are subsequently 
measured in their entirety at either amortised cost or 
fair value, depending on the classification of the financial 
assets.

Classification 
On initial recognition, the association classifies its 
financial assets into the following categories, those 
measured at:

• amortised cost

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their 
initial recognition unless the association changes its 
business model for managing financial assets.

Amortised cost
Assets measured at amortised cost are financial assets 
where:

• the business model is to hold assets to collect 
contractual cash flows; and

• the contractual terms give rise on specified dates 
to cash flows are solely payments of principal and 

interest on the principal amount outstanding.

The association’s financial assets measured at amortised 
cost comprise trade and other receivables, term deposits 
and cash and cash equivalents in the statement of 
financial position. Subsequent to initial recognition, these 
assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method less provision for impairment.

Interest income, foreign exchange gains or losses and 
impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Gain or loss 
on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets 
Impairment of financial assets is recognised on an 
expected credit loss (ECL) basis for the following assets 
for financial assets measured at amortised cost

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial 
assets has increased significant since initial recognition 
and when estimating ECL, the association considers 
reasonable and supportable information that is relevant 
and available without undue cost or effort. This includes 
both quantitative and qualitative information and 
analysis based on the association’s historical experience 
and informed credit assessment and including forward 
looking information.

The association uses the presumption that an asset which 
is more than 30 days past due has seen a significant 
increase in credit risk.

The association uses the presumption that a financial 
asset is in default when:

• the other party is unlikely to pay its credit 
obligations to the association in full, without 
recourse to the association to actions such as 
realising security (if any is held); or

• the financial assets are more than 90 days past due.

Credit losses are measured as the present value of 
the difference between the cash flows due to the 
association in accordance with the contract and the cash 
flows expected to be received. This is applied using a 
probability weighted approach.

Trade receivables
Impairment of trade receivables have been determined 
using the simplified approach in AASB 9 which uses 
an estimation of lifetime expected credit losses. The 
association has determined the probability of non-
payment of the receivable and multiplied this by the 
amount of the expected loss arising from default.

The amount of the impairment is recorded in a separate 
allowance account with the loss being recognised in 
finance expense. Once the receivable is determined to be 
uncollectable then the gross carrying amount is written 
off against the associated allowance.

Where the association renegotiates the terms of trade 
receivables due from certain customers, the new 
expected cash flows are discounted at the original 
effective interest rate and any resulting difference to the 
carrying value is recognised in profit or loss.
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Other financial assets measured at amortised cost

Impairment of other financial assets measured at 
amortised cost are determined using the expected credit 
loss model in AASB 9. On initial recognition of the asset, 
an estimate of the expected credit losses for the next 12 
months is recognised. Where the asset has experienced 
a significant increase in credit risk, the lifetime losses are 
estimated and recognised.

Financial liabilities

The association measures all financial liabilities initially at 
fair value less transaction costs. Subsequently, financial 
liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method. The financial liabilities of 
the association comprise trade and other payables.

(i)  General Reserve

The general reserve is used from time to time to transfer 
surplus from retained earnings. There is no policy of 
regular transfer. It is used to support ongoing projects, 
provide seed funding for new projects and replace capital 
equipment.

(j)   Ian McKenzie Reserve

The Ian McKenzie reserve represents a donation from the 
estate of the late Mr Ian McKenzie, VFST Board Member, to 
be used to assist our clients to build new lives in Australia.

(k)  Goods and Services Tax (GST) 

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the 
amount of goods and services tax (GST), except where 
the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the 
Australian Taxation Office (ATO). Receivables and payables 
are stated inclusive of GST.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the 
ATO is included as part of receivables or payables in the 
statement of financial position.

Cash flows in the statement of cash flows are included on 
a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows arising 
from investing and financing activities which is recoverable 
from, or payable to, the taxation authority is classified as 
operating cash flows.

(l)  Continuation of Government Funding

All significant government funding will continue in 2021-22.

(m) Adoption of new and revised accounting standards

The association has adopted all standards which 
became effective for the first time during the year 
ended 30 June 2021.

NOTE 2: REVENUE 
2021 2020

$ $

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Commonwealth Department of Health 10,649,775 9,884,441

Commonwealth Department of Home Affairs 1,895,847 1,842,451

Victorian Department of Health & Human Services 5,432,296 4,513,375

Victorian Department of Education and Training 1,487,617 1,333,426

Victorian Department of Premier and Cabinet 200,000 -

19,656,535 17,573,693

FEE-FOR-SERVICE INCOME

International Health and Medical Services 815,392 790,860

Other fee Income 145,482 255,078

960,874 1,045,938

20,617,409 18,619,631

REVENUE FROM OTHER SOURCES

Donations 60,142 69,156

Grants from Foundations, Trusts and Corporations 317,764 301,044

Interest Income 51,617 129,491

Membership Subscriptions 675 645

Gain on Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment - 70,887

Consulting and Training Fees 67,798 48,872

Reimbursements and Other Income 197,974 192,913

695,968 813,008

21,313,377 19,432,639

NOTE 3: SURPLUS (DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR
The surplus for the year is $3,980 (2020: $147,142 
surplus) and arises after charging: 

2021 2020

$ $

Depreciation 698,592 611,050

Operating lease expenses – rent of office building 360 14,550

Interest expense 63,379 79,863

NOTE 4: REMUNERATION OF AUDITOR’S  
2021 2020

$ $

Audit of the financial report 19,800 20,220
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NOTE 5: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
2021 2020

$ $

Cash on hand 3,602 4,101

Cash at bank 3,675,328 2,044,478

Cash at end of year in Statement of Cash Flows 3,678,930 2,048,579

NOTE 6: FINANCIAL ASSETS 
2021 2020

$ $

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST

Term deposits 4,506,164 4,420,000

The term deposits as at 30 June 2021 are a 12 month 
deposit of $2,000,000, held at Bank Australia maturing 
on 27 June 2021, 6 month term deposit of $2,000,000 
held at Bank Australia maturing 8 August 2021 and a 12 
month deposit of $500,000 maturing on 30 June 2021.

NOTE 7: TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
2021 2020

$ $

Trade receivables 82,652 415,864

Sundry debtors 60,106 60,331

Accrued revenue 69,575 12,178

Prepayments 54,827 82,203

267,160 570,576

NOTE 8: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
2021 2020

$ $

Buildings and improvements 1,956,375 1,956,375

Accumulated depreciation (1,349,021) (1,268,549) 

607,354 687,826

Plant and equipment at cost 772,627 640,997

Accumulated depreciation (394,413) (269,345)

378,214 371,651

Motor vehicles at cost 199,255 199,255

Accumulated depreciation (157,946) (142,277)

41,309 56,978

TOTAL OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 1,026,878 1,116,455

 

Movements in Carrying Amounts 

Movements in the carrying amount of each class of 
property, plant and equipment between the beginning 
and the end of the current financial year are as follows:

2021 2020

$ $

BUILDING AND IMPROVEMENTS

Written down value at the beginning of the year 687,826 759,994

Additions - -

Depreciation (80,472) (72,168)

WRITTEN DOWN VALUE AT THE END OF THE YEAR 607,354 687,826

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Written down value at the beginning of the year 371,650 88,446

Additions 131,630 315,746

Disposals - -

Depreciation (125,067) (32,542)

WRITTEN DOWN VALUE AT THE END OF THE YEAR 378,214 371,650

MOTOR VEHICLES

Written down value at the beginning of the year 56,978 142,717

Additions - -

Disposals - (62,432)

Depreciation (15,669) (23,307)

WRITTEN DOWN VALUE AT THE END OF THE YEAR 41,309 56,978

NOTE 9: RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS  

BUILDINGS
MOTOR 

VEHICLES
TOTAL

$ $ $

Balance at the beginning of the year 1,407,510 64,702 1,472,212

Additions 9,285 19,176 28,461

Depreciation expense (420,089) (49,604) (477,384)

BALANCE AT THE END OF THE YEAR 996,706 34,273 1,030,979

NOTE 10: TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES  
2021 2020

$ $

Trade payables 1,282,726 554,120

NOTE 11: PROVISIONS 
2021 2020

$ $

CURRENT

Annual leave 1,403,447 1,221,508

Long service leave 1,229,479 1,050,643

2,632,926 2,272,151

NON-CURRENT

Long service leave 312,024 609,882

2,944,949 2,882,033
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NOTE 12: RETAINED EARNINGS  
2021 2020

$ $

Opening balance 1,108,799 1,105,799

Total comprehensive income/loss for the period 3,980 147,142

Transfer to general reserves (3,980) (147,142)

Transfer from Ian McKenzie reserve 3,000 3,000

CLOSING BALANCE 1,111,799 1,108,799

NOTE 13: RESERVES  
2021 2020

$ $

General reserve 2,074,122 2,070,142

Ian McKenzie reserve 40,234 43,234

2,114,356 2,113,376

The general reserve is used to transfer surplus from retained 
earnings, as provided by the VFST Reserves Policy. It is 
used to support ongoing projects, provide seed funding for 
new projects and replace capital equipment.

The Ian McKenzie reserve represents a donation from the 
estate of the late Mr Ian McKenzie, VFST Board Member, to 
be used to assist our clients to build new lives in Australia.

NOTE 14: NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING 
ACTIVITIES  

2021 2020

$ $

Net Surplus/(Deficit) 3,980 147,142

Adjustments for:

Depreciation, amortisation, impairment 698,592 611,050

Net (gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment - (70,887)

Changes in assets and liabilities:

(Increase)/decrease in assets:

Trade receivables 303,416 (12,050)

(Decrease)/increase in liabilities:

Trade payables 728,606 86,753

Other liabilities 497,289 726,463

Provisions 62,917 178,818

2,294,800 1,691,389

NOTE 15: MEMBERS
The organisation is an incorporated association. In the 
event of the winding up or dissolution of the association, 
any property remaining after the satisfaction of all debts 
and liabilities will not be distributed or transferred to 
members but will be distributed or transferred to other 
institution(s) with similar objectives to The Victorian 
Foundation for Survivors of Torture. 

NOTE 16: RELATED PARTIES DISCLOSURE
The names of persons who were Board members at any 
time during the year are set out in the Board’s Report. 
Board members do not receive remuneration for services 
provided. There were no other transactions that require 
disclosure for the year ended 30 June 2021. (2020: Nil) 

NOTE 17: EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS
The association has no capital commitments contracted 
at 30 June 2021. (2020: Nil). The association has no 
commitments for non-cancellable operating leases. 
(2020: Nil). 

NOTE 18: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The association’s principal financial instruments comprise 
trade receivables and payables, cash and term deposits. 
These activities expose the association to a variety of 
financial risks including market risk, interest rate risk, 
credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Board Members manage the different types of risks 
to which the association is exposed by considering risk 
and monitoring levels of exposure to the risks identified 
and by being aware of the environment and external 
factors that will impact the risk. This includes monitoring 
interest rates and the factors that impact interest rate 
movements and determining how best to monitor the 
risk arising from those movements. Ageing analyses and 
monitoring of specific credit allowances are undertaken 
to manage credit risk, liquidity risk is monitored through 
general business budgets and forecasts.

The association holds the following financial instruments:

2021 2020

$ $

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Financial assets at amortised cost

Cash and cash equivalents 3,678,930 2,048,579

Term deposits 4,506,164 4,420,000

Trade and other receivables 142,758 476,195

Total Financial Assets 8,327,852 6,944,774

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
- Trade and sundry creditors

1,282,726 554,120

Lease liabilities 1,094,074 1,504,577

Total financial liabilities 2,376,800 2,058,697

NET EXPOSURE 5,951,052 4,886,077
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NOTE 19: KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 
The total remuneration paid to key management personnel 
of the association was $1,352,721 (2020: $1,583,561)

NOTE 20: ASSOCIATION DETAILS  
The principal place of business of the Association is:

The Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture Inc.
Foundation House 
4 Gardiner Street,  
Brunswick Vic 3056     

NOTE 21: AFTER BALANCE DATE EVENTS
Since March 2020, the Australian economy has been 
significantly impacted by the disruption caused by the 
COVID-19 pandemic. The association has continued to 
operate normally since this time, with staff working from 
home where required. Client counselling sessions and 
other support programs have primarily moved to an 
online service delivery model.

In July and August 2021, the Victorian Government 
imposed further movement restrictions and shut-
downs of businesses in Victoria to supress recent virus 
outbreaks. This has not caused any significant additional 
impact on the operations of the association.

Except for the above, no matters or circumstances 
have arisen since the end of the financial year which 
significantly affected or may significantly affect the 
operations of the association, the results of those 
operations, or the state of affairs of the association in 
future financial years.

BOARD MEMBERS’ DECALARATION
In the Board members’ opinion:

1. The attached financial statements and notes thereto 
present a true and fair view of the financial position of 
Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture Inc. as 
at 30 June 2021 and its performance for the financial 
year ended on that date in accordance with the 
Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission 
Act 2012, the Associations Incorporation Reform 
Act 2012, the Australian Accounting Standards 
– Reduced Disclosure Requirements and other 
mandatory professional reporting requirements and 
other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board. 

2. At the date of this statement, there are reasonable 
grounds to believe that Victorian Foundation for 
Survivors of Torture Inc. will be able to pay its debts 
as and when they fall due.

This statement is made in accordance with a resolution of 
the Board and is signed for and on behalf of the Board by:

  

REMBERTO RIVERA   RICHARD HOME  
Chair  Treasurer  

12 October 2021  12 October 2021 
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The Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture Inc 
 
ABN 52 783 974 656 
 
Auditor’s Independence Declaration to the board members of The Victorian 
Foundation for Survivors of Torture Inc 
 

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the year ended 30 June 2021, there have 
been: 

(i) No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 in relation to the audit; and 
  

(ii) No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 

 

Saward Dawson 

 

 

Jeffrey Tulk 
Partner 
 

Blackburn 

Date: 17 November 2021 
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The Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture Inc 
 
ABN 52 783 974 656 
 
Independent Audit Report to the members of The Victorian Foundation for 
Survivors of Torture Inc 
 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of The Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture Inc (the entity), 
which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2021, statement of profit or loss and 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended, notes to the financial statements including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the 
board members’ declaration. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of The Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture Inc, 
is in accordance with Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, 
including: 

(a) giving a true and fair view of the entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2021 and of its financial 
performance for the year then ended; and 
 

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and Division 
60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2013. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section 
of our report. We are independent of the entity in accordance with the auditor independence requirements 
of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and the ethical requirements of the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

Responsibility of the Board Members for the Financial Report 

The board members of the entity are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a 
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements 
and the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and for such internal control as the 
board members determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true 
and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.   
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The Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture Inc 
 
ABN 52 783 974 656 
 
Independent Audit Report to the members of The Victorian Foundation for 
Survivors of Torture Inc 
 
In preparing the financial report, the board members are responsible for assessing the entity’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the board members either intend to liquidate the entity or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of this financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.  We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the board members. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the board members’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability to continue as 
a going concern.  If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause the entity to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
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The Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture Inc 
 
ABN 52 783 974 656 
 
Independent Audit Report to the members of The Victorian Foundation for 
Survivors of Torture Inc 
 
We communicate with the board members regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. 

 

 

 
Saward Dawson 

 

 

 

Jeffrey Tulk 
Partner 
 

Blackburn 

Date: 17 November 2021 
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PATRON IN CHIEF 
Her Excellency the Honourable Linda Dessau AC, 
Governor of Victoria

PATRONS 

• Prof Hilary Charlesworth AM 

• Ms Dur-é Dara OAM 

• Prof David de Kretser AC 

• Mrs Jan de Kretser 

• Mr Petro Georgiou AO 

• Hon Michael Kirby AC CMG

LIFE MEMBERS
Our Life Members are those deemed by  
the Board of Management to have made  
an outstanding and significant contribution  
to the work of Foundation House.

• David Bilander 
Awarded Life Membership in 2021

• Quentin Buckle (1953–2003) 
Awarded Life Membership in 2001

• Lynne Haultain 
Awarded Life Membership in 2019

• Michelle Groves 
Awarded Life Membership in 2018

• Alexander Stitt AM (1937–2016) 
Awarded Life Membership in 2015

• Paddy Stitt 
Awarded Life Membership in 2015

• Margaret Wehl 
Awarded Life Membership in 2014

BOARD OF MANAGEMENT
• Remberto Rivera – Chair

• Helen Casey – Deputy Chair

• Richard Home – Treasurer 

• Theodora Elia-Adams – Secretary 

• David Bilander (retired November 2020)

• Shaymaa Elkadi (appointed September 2020)

• Matt Ervin (resigned July 2020)

• Shane Lucas (appointed September 2020)

• Travers McLeod

• Kirstin Pilatti

• Chantelle Radwan (appointed March 2021)

• Dick Sloman

AGENCY MANAGEMENT TEAM
• Paris Aristotle AO – CEO

• Julia Doherty – Regional Manager West

• Rudy Gonzalez – General Manager Practice  
and Sector Development

• Rebecca Harvey – Regional Manager North

• Jasmina Mulugeta – Regional Manager  
South East

• Siobhan O’Mara – Acting General Manager 
Corporate Services (from May 2021)

• Steve Schuurmans – General Manager 
Corporate Services (resigned May 2021)

• Kylie Scoullar – General Manager Direct Services

• Mardi Stow – General Manager Community 
Capacity Building

OUR PEOPLE
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STAFF TEAMS

DIRECT SERVICES

• North Region

• South East Region

• West Region

• Intake and Access Team

• Complementary Therapies

• Ucan2

• Rural and Regional Services

• Chin Youth and Family Strengthening Project

COMMUNITY CAPACITY BUILDING

• Capacity Building

• Mental Health Promotion

• COVID Mental Health Response Project 

PRACTICE AND SECTOR DEVELOPMENT

• Education and Early Years

• Practice Development and Learning

• Research and Knowledge Transfer

• Victorian Refugee Health Network

CORPORATE SERVICES

• Executive Services

• Human Resources

• Finance

• Information Management 

• Information Technology

• Quality Improvement

39

FOUNDATION HOUSE ANNUAL REPORT 2020–2021



• Alice Abalo

• Siba Abdelki

• Jenny Adams

• Jenny Addy

• Paris Aristotle

• Christine Bakopanos

• Tom Barton

• Dani Beaini

• Belinda Belanji

• Salwa Benyamin

• Diana Berberi

• Sarah Berberi

• Sean Bezard

• Anita Biesheuvel

• Ruth Bignell

• Sally Boal

• Manny Bonnici

• Mike Bromhead

• Melissa Buckley

• Alberto Burgos

• Sophie Burke

• Chanelle Burns

• Alex Caldwell

• Valerie Callanan

• Luisa Capasso

• Maddison Cassidy

• Simone Castellazzi

• Hala Chamas

• Donna Chesters

• KC Chirenje

• Tegrin Christie

• Fu Chung

• Giovanna Citta

• Jennifer Clarke

• Anne Clifford

• Guy Coffey

• Rebecca Cole

• Amy Collard

• Thomas Connell

• Kathy Cooney

• Lyndal Corrie

• Connie Crowe

• Emilie D’Acre

• Fi Rose Dal

• Beena Saju Daniel

• Salam Dankha

• Esme Dark

• Phoebe Davey

• Maneka Dayaratne

• Frank De Rose

• Zaheera Deen

• Anna Demuth

• Santino Deng

• Shadi Denkha

• Julia Doherty

• Kelley Doyle

• Rose Dupleix

• Bernadette Durkan

• Olivia Dwyer

• Zakia Ebrahim

• Sue Ekkel

• Felicity Elkiana

• Susannah Ennis

• Reem Faiq

• Salah Farah

• Maleesa Fernando

• Sasha Findlay

• Melissa Finlayson

• Sab Flamuri

• Kylie Forbes

• Pearl Francis 

Thiruthuvaraj

• Samantha Furneaux

• Toto Ganemy-Kunoo

• Madeleine Gange

• Pina Garasi

• Maddy Giummarra

• Janet Glover

• Charu Goel

• Shubha Gokhale

• Rudy Gonzalez

• Fran Goodwin

• Greg Gow

• Allison Greene

• Goldie Greenwald

• Daniela Grozavu

• Maryna Hanna

• Sraddhanaya Ainslie 

Hannan

• Rose Harper

• Allie Harris

• Michelle Hartnett

• Rebecca Harvey

• Margaret Hatton

• Janet Hatzis

• Kaye Hawkins

• Lizzie Hess

• Yvette Higgins

• Alisha Hill

• Jackie Hoggart

• Natasha Holt

• Chris Hortin

• Ash Hosseini

• Jeanine Hourani

• Katherine Hubbard

• Tessa Hutcheson

• Rosie Issa

• Tess Jolley

• Susanna Julian

• Caroline Kajewski

• Andrew Kalon

• Ida Kaplan

• Jamila Karimi

• Tigist Kebede

• Gillian Kerr

• Christina Kioulafas

OUR STAFF
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• Amy Kludas

• Toby Koberle

• Dina Korkees

• Beba Kosa-Dana

• Cindy La

• Manar Labib

• Helen Lacey

• Samantha Laird

• Roslyn Leary

• Madeleine Lesjak-

Atton

• Sue Liddelow

• Eric Livingstone

• Natasha Lobo

• Cecilia Lopez

• Grace Lopez

• Rosslyn Lyall

• Jo MacBryde

• Marilyn Magno

• Mahdokht Mahboobi

• Jesse Maher

• Winniy Manyang

• Beth Maplestone

• Ann Marsh

• Afnan Matti

• Zabi Mazoori

• Grace McArrich

• Kylie McDermott

• Morag McKillop

• Vanya McLennan

• Lesley McLeod

• Parwin Miazoi

• Yonas Mihtsuntu

• Maria Mora

• Robyn Morgan

• Cara Morrissy

• Lisa Moseley

• Munya Muchacha

• Jasmina Mulugeta

• Kerry Munnery

• Chris Nathan

• Julian Nation

• Miranda Nation

• Luke Neeson

• Philippa Newton

• Esther Nima Sung

• Kifarkis Nissan

• Samuel Notaro

• Siobhan O’Mara

• Bernard O’Rourke

• Stefan Parsons

• Bec Paterson

• Anna Pearson

• Georgia Phillips

• Maria Piteri

• Vicki Ponsford

• Emma Preece Boyd

• Linda Pressey

• Meg Quartermaine

• Irene Rahman

• Raj Ramanathapillai

• Mary Read

• Dashiell Rees

• Deng Riak

• Sofia Riveroll

• Jacqui Robson

• Matt Rodger

• Joyce Sadia-Peter

• Biak Cin Sang

• Steve Schuurmans

• Anna Schwarzenberg

• Kylie Scoullar

• Kaye Sebire

• Krista Senden

• Stephanie Shavin

• Essam Shehata

• Sarah Shoukor

• Reginald Shwe

• Francisco Silva

• Nessy Soliman

• Ola Soliman

• Amy Somers

• Elvira Sotelo

• Mario Sotelo

• Mardi Stow

• Susie Strehlow

• Andrea Suarez 

Sabogal

• Fiona Sultana

• Jo Szwarc

• Jwan Takian

• Paul Tarsitano

• Sinan Tawfeeq

• Dawt Tha Thang Eng

• Diana Thomas

• Claudia Thoms

• Vanessa Tippala

• Susie Tipping

• Tien Truong

• Maria Tucci

• Tracey Um

• Rachael Unwin

• Esme Van Der Schee

• Jaqualine Vandersluys

• Roshini Varghese

• Rosa Vasseghi

• Elise Verity

• Mae Vincent

• Renzo Vittorino

• Heidi Wegner

• Leesl Wegner

• Chitlu Wyn

• Thong Za Tawng

• Felicity Zwalf
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FUNDING 
• Australian Government Department of Health 

• Australian Government Department of Home Affairs 

• North Western Melbourne Primary Health Network 

• Victoria State Government Department of Education 
and Training 

• Victoria State Government Department of Health 
and Human Services 

• Victoria State Government Department of Justice 
and Community Safety (Specialist Intervention)

• Victoria State Government Department of Premier 
and Cabinet 

TRUSTS AND FOUNDATIONS 
• 6A Foundation 

• Australian Communities Foundation – Caroline Durre 
Sub Fund 

• Brian & Virginia McNamee Foundation 

• Igniting Change Foundation

• The Jacka Foundation of Natural Therapies 

• Leo & Mina Fink Foundation 

• Lyngala Foundation

• Mutual Trust Pty Ltd

• Portland House Foundation 

• Shulu Foundation 

• Spotlight Foundation

SERVICE AND PROGRAM PARTNERS 
• AMES Australia 

• Asylum Seeker Resource Centre

• Barwon Child, Youth & Family

• Brotherhood of St Laurence 

• Centre for Multicultural Youth

• Hobsons Bay City Council 

• International Health and Medical Services 

• Kildonan Uniting Care 

• Dr David Kelly – Complementary Therapies team 
volunteer

• Life Without Barriers 

• Migrant Information Centre 

• Refugee Legal

• Royal Children’s Hospital Mental Health Service

• Save the Children

• Spectrum Migrant Resource Centre

• St Vincent’s Hospital 

• Victorian Health and Human Services Building 
Authority

• Wyndham City Council

FINANCIAL AND IN-KIND SUPPORT 
• Stephanie Charlesworth

• De La Salle College staff and students 

• Phillip Dunlop 

• Virginia Henry

• ISPT & Sean Hogan

• King & Wood Mallesons 

• Sharmini Kumar

• Kimina Lyall

• Janine McDougall 

• Mark Madden 

• Southern Light Herbs

• Spitzer Group 

• Michael & Rosemary Tabak

• Jennifer Weinstein

OUR THANKS

42



ENGLISH LANGUAGE CLASS VOLUNTEERS
• Irene Donnison 

• Bill Dunne 

• Karen Dupleix 

• Jenny Green 

• Anne Hayman

• Kathy Hore 

• Jenny Little 

• Angela Mandile 

• Margaret Wehl 

INSTITUTIONAL ETHICS COMMITTEE 
• Dr Dick Sloman (Chair) 

• Fr Andrew Hamilton 

• Prof Helen Herrman 

• Jill Jameson 

• Dr Caroline Lambert 

• David Manne 

• Prof Rhonda Small 

• Dr Peter Streker 

REFUGEE MENTAL HEALTH CLINIC
• Dr Prem Chopra 

• Dr Joanne Gardiner 

• Dr John Gill

• Dr Peter McArdle 

• Dr Gita Mammen 

• Dr Tahmineh Salehi

• Dr Radhika Santhanam-Martin

• Dr Susie Tipping

CONTRIBUTORS TO RESEARCH
• Assoc Prof Agnes Dodd

• Assoc Prof Jeanette Lawrence
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BRUNSWICK

4 Gardiner Street,  

Brunswick, VIC 3056,  

Australia 

t: (03) 9389 8900

f: (03) 9277 7871

DANDENONG

155 Foster Street,  

Dandenong, VIC 3175,  

Australia 

t: (03) 9389 8888

f: (03) 9277 7871

RINGWOOD

18 Bond Street,  

Ringwood, VIC 3134,  

Australia 

t: (03) 9389 8700

f: (03) 9277 7871

DALLAS

Level 4, 61 Riggall Street, 

Dallas, VIC 3047, 

Australia 

t: (03) 9389 8899

f: (03) 9277 7871

SUNSHINE

163 Harvester Road,  

Sunshine, VIC 3020,  

Australia 

t: (03) 9389 8777

f: (03) 9277 7871

FOUNDATION HOUSE –  
The Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture Inc. (VFST)
General email – all offices: info@foundationhouse.org.au
Client referral email – all offices: intake@foundationhouse.org.au
Client referral telephone – all offices: (03) 9389 8900
Web address: www.foundationhouse.org.au


